





PRINCESS Trial Protocol

Long title: A double-blind placebo controlled trial to evaluate the efficacy of probiotics (Lactobacillus rhamnosus, LGG and Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis, BB-12) in reducing antibiotic administration for infection in care home residents.

Short title: Probiotics to Reduce Infections iN CarE home reSidentS, which is abbreviated to PRINCESS

Version 4.0 15.04.2019

Sponsor: Cardiff University

Sponsor ref: SPON1426-15

Funder:National Institute for Health Research Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation
Programme

Funder ref: 13/95/10

ISRCTN16392920

This protocol has been authorised by:					
Professor M Robling Director of Population Health Trials					
Name	Role	Signature	Date		
Drefessor C Dutler	Chief Investigator				
Professor C Butler	Chief investigator				
Name	Role	Signature	Date		

General Information This protocol describes the PRINCESS trial, and provides information about the procedures for entering participants into the trial. The protocol should not be used as a guide, or as an aide-memoire for the treatment/care of other patients/participants. Every care has been taken in drafting this protocol; however, corrections or amendments may be necessary. These will be circulated to the known Investigators in the trial, but centres entering participants for the first time are advised to contact the South East Wales Trials Unit (SEWTU) in Cardiff to confirm that they have the most up-to-date version of the protocol in their possession. Problems relating to the trial should be referred, in the first instance, to SEWTU.

Compliance This study will adhere to the conditions and principles outlined in the EU Directive 2001/20/EC, EU Directive 2005/28/EC and the ICH Harmonised Tripartite Guideline for Good Clinical Practice (CPMP/ICH/135/95). It will be conducted in compliance with the protocol, the Research Governance Framework for Health and Social Care (Welsh Assembly Government November 2001 and Department of Health 2nd July 2005), the Data Protection Act 1998, and other regulatory requirements as appropriate.

For those trial participants lacking capacity, the Mental Capacity Act (2005) will be adhered to.

Funding The PRINCESS trial is being funded by the Medical Research Council's Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation Programme administered by the National Institute for Health Research.

Contact details - Chief Investigator and Co-Investigators

CHIEF INVESTIGATOR

Professor Christopher Butler Department of Public Health and Primary Care Cardiff University 029 20687242 butlercc@cardiff.ac.uk Nuffield Department of Primary Care Health Sciences University of Oxford 01865 289306 christopher.butler@ohc.ox.ac.uk

CO-INVESTIGATORS

Professor Antony Bayer	Dr Robin Howe
Professor Philip Calder	Professor George Lewith
Dr Nick Francis	Professor Paul Little
Mr David Gillespie	Dr Mark Lown
Professor Richard Hobbs	Professor Michael Moore
Professor Kerry Hood	Dr Gurudutt Naik
	Dr Mandy Wootton

CONTACT DETAILS - TRIAL TEAM:

TRIAL MANAGER Dr Eleri Owen-Jones South East Wales Trials Unit 7th floor Neuadd Meirionnydd Cardiff University Heath Park Cardiff University CF14 4YS 029 20687601 <u>Owen-JonesCE@cardiff.ac.uk</u>

RESEARCH NURSES Dr Jane Davies, Alison Edwards South East Wales Trials Unit 7th floor Neuadd Meirionnydd Cardiff University Heath Park Cardiff University CF14 4YS 029 20688613/20687464 DaviesJ112@cardiff.ac.uk Edwards33@cardiff.ac.uk SENIOR TRIAL MANAGER Dr Rachel Lowe South East Wales Trials Unit 7th floor Neuadd Meirionnydd Cardiff University Heath Park Cardiff University CF14 4YS 029 20687512 BreenR@cardiff.ac.uk

TRIAL STATISTICIAN Dr David Gillespie South East Wales Trials Unit 4th floor Neuadd Meirionnydd Cardiff University Heath Park Cardiff University CF14 4YS 029 20687610 <u>GillespieD1@cardiff.ac.uk</u> TRIAL STATISTICIAN Mandy Lau South East Wales Trials Unit 4th floor Neuadd Meirionnydd Cardiff University Heath Park Cardiff University CF14 4YS 029 20687605 LauTM@cardiff.ac.uk

TRIAL MANAGER Mina Davoudianfar Primary Care Clinical Trials Unit University of Oxford Nuffield Department of Primary Care Health Sciences Radcliffe Observatory Quarter Woodstock Road Oxford OX2 6GG 01865 289336 mina.davoudianfar@phc.ox.ac.uk DATA MANAGER Helen Stanton South East Wales Trials Unit 7th floor Neuadd Meirionnydd Cardiff University Heath Park Cardiff University CF14 4YS 029 20687142 StantonHM1@cardiff.ac.uk

SENIOR TRIAL MANAGER Dr Johanna Cook Primary Care Clinical Trials Unit University of Oxford Nuffield Department of Primary Care Health Sciences Radcliffe Observatory Quarter Woodstock Road Oxford OX2 6GG Tel: 01865 289336 johanna.cook@phc.ox.ac.uk

Please contact the Trial Manager for general queries and supply of trial documentation

Randomisations:

Randomisation

To randomise a patient log onto the following website: https://ctu1.phc.ox.ac.uk/randomise (See section 15 for more details)

Clinical queries:

Clinical queries

All clinical queries should be directed to the Trial Manager who will direct the query to the most appropriate clinical person.

Serious Adverse Events:

SAR reporting

SAEs will be reported by the RN on the PRINCESS Weekly Record and Weekly Record: Further Information CRF.

Where an adverse event meets the definition of a SAR a SAR form should be completed by the responsible person and faxed to the PRINCESS Trial Manager (See section 13 for more details).

Fax Number: 02031070875

Table of Contents

1	Amendment History	9
2	Synopsis	11
3	Trial summary and schema	13
3.1	Trial schema	13
3.2	Participant flow diagram	14
3.3	Trial summary	15
4	, Introduction	16
4.1	Background	16
4.2	Rationale for current trial	18
5	Trial objectives and outcomes	20
5.1	Primary and secondary objectives and outcome measures	20
6	Trial design	23
6.1	Internal Pilot	23
7	Care Home and Investigator selection	23
, 8	Participant selection	23
8 1	Trial nonulation	24
8.2	Inclusion criteria	24
0.2 8 3	Evolucion criteria	24
0.5		24
9 0 1	Drimary outcome measure	24
0.2	Secondary outcome measure	24
5.2 10	Becruitment and randomisation	24
10 1	Number of participants	25
10.1	Permitment process	25
10.2	Informed concent	25
10.5	Pandomisation/registration and unblinding	23
10.4		27
10.5	Withdrawal & loss to follow-up	20
12	Intervention	20
12 1	Adherence	20
12.1	Adverse Events (Safety)	30
12.2		20 21
12.2		27
12.5	Expectedness	32 33
15.4	Adverse Events (Human Tissue)	32 35
14	Adverse Events (Inuman Tissue)	22
14.1		35 25
14.Z	PRINCESS Reporting Procedures:	35 25
15		33 25
15.1	LOCALION	35
15.2	Data collection/assessment	35
15.3		30
15.4	Follow-up	37
16		37
16.1	Justification	3/
16.2	Alms	38
16.3	UDJECTIVES	38
10.4 17	Wethous	38
174	Statistical considerations	39
17.1	Kandomisation	39
1/.2	Sample size	39
10 1	Analysis	40
10.1	IVIdITI diffaysis	40
18.2	Description of outcomes and method of statistical analysis	42

18.3	Data storage & retention	44
19	Trial closure	44
20	Regulatory issues	44
20.1	Ethical and research governance approval	44
20.2	Consent	45
20.3	Risks and benefits	45
20.4	Confidentiality	45
20.5	Indemnity	46
20.6	Trial sponsorship	46
20.7	Funding	46
20.8	Audits & inspections	46
21	Trial management	46
22	Data monitoring & quality assurance	46
22.1	TSC (Trial Steering Committee)	47
22.2	IDMC (Independent Data Monitoring Committee)	47
23	Publication policy	47
23.1	Feedback to participants and other stakeholders	47
24	References	48
25	Schedule of Study Procedures	51
26	Appendix 1	53
TABLE (DF ABBREVIATIONS	54
KEY STU	JDY CONTACTS	55
STUDY	SUMMARY	55
STUDY	FLOW CHART	56
1.	BACKGROUND	57
2.	RESEARCH QUESTION/AIM(S) AND OBJECTIVES	58
3.	STUDY DESIGN and METHODS of DATA COLLECTION AND DATA ANALYSIS	58
4.	STUDY SETTING	59
5.	PARTICIPANT SAMPLING	59
6.	PARTICIPANT RECRUITMENT	60
7.	ETHICAL AND REGULATORY CONSIDERATIONS	61
8.	DISSEMINIATION POLICY	62
9.	REFERENCES	63

Glossary of abbreviations

AAD	Antibiotic Associated Diarrhoea
AE	Adverse Event
AMR	Antimicrobial Resistant/ce
CAAD	Cumulative Antibiotic Administration Days
CAPD	Cumulative Antibiotic Prescription Days
СІ	Chief Investigator
CID	Common Infectious Diseases
CIS	Consultee Information Sheet
CHR	Care Home Resident(s)
CRF	Case Report Form
СТІМР	Clinical Trial of an Investigational Medicinal Product
СИ	Cardiff University
EME	Efficacy and Mechanisms Evaluation Programme
EQ5D	EuroQol 5D
FBC	Full Blood Count
GCP	Good Clinical Practice
GI	Gastrointestinal Infections
GMP	Good Manufacturing Practice
GP	General Practitioner
НСАІ	Health care associated infections
н	Haemagglutinin Inhibition
IC	Informed Consent
ICECAP-O	ICEpop CAPability measure for Older people
ICF	Informed Consent Form
ІСН	International Conference of Harmonisation
IDMC	Independent Data Monitoring Committee
MAR	Medication Administration Record
NHS	National Health Service
PAAD	Probiotics for Antibiotic Associated Diarrhoea study
PI	Principal Investigator
PIS	Participant/ Patient Information Sheet
PPI	Patient Public Involvement

QL (QoL)	Quality of Life
R&D	NHS Trust Research & Development Department
RCT	Randomised Controlled Trial
REC	Research Ethics Committee
RN	Research Nurse
RTI	Respiratory Tract Infection
SAE	Serious Adverse Event
SEWTU	South East Wales Trials Unit
TLR	Toll Like Receptors
TMG	Trial Management Group
TSC	Trial Steering Committee
UTI	Urinary Tract Infection
VDR	Vitamin-D Receptors
VRE	Vancomycin resistant enterococci

1 Amendment History

Amendment No.	Protocol version no.	Date issued	Author(s) of changes	Details of changes made
1	2.0	12/07/2016	EOJ	Trial team details updated (pg.3).
				Details of randomisation website added (pg.4 & pg.27).
				Secondary outcome of GP visits, A&E visits, and prophylactic antibiotic use removed (pg. 10, pg. 19, pg. 39).
				Word "serum" has been added to clarify that this refers to vitamin D levels in blood rather than in faecal specimens (pg. 10 & pg. 21).
				Section 3.1 Trial Schema (pg.12) and 3.2 Participant Flow Diagram (pg. 13) updated
				Section 4.1 Background has been modified to further clarify the objectives of the study (pg. 13).
				Reference to "hospital records" changed to "discharge summaries" (pg. 20 & 39).
				Reference to "microbiome analysis" removed (pg. 21 & pg. 39).
				Reference to "record increased level of care required" via analysis of MAR sheets removed (pg. 20).
				Section 8.3 Exclusion criteria amended to include residents currently involved in another CTIMP or who have participated in a CTIMP during the last 30 days (pg. 23).
				Section 10.4 updated to change Unblinding SOP to unblinding procedure, and individual carrying out unblinding from QA Manager to suitable delegated individual (pg.27), and addition of 2 trial packs at initial allocation (pg.27).
				Clinical Rating Scale removed from the table on pg. 39 and text (pg.29).

				Section 13 Adverse Events (Safety) updated to include General Definitions (pg.29), Expectedness (pg.31), updated flowchart (pg.36) and removal of 'not assessable' outcome (pg.33), Reporting Procedures (pg.32). Section 14 Adverse Events (Human Tissue) added (pg.34).
N/A	2.1	01/09/2016	EOJ	ISRCTN added to cover page. In version 2.0 of the protocol the "Protocol version no." column under the Amendment History should be 2.0 and not 1.1 – this has been amended in version 2.1 protocol.
3	2.2	02/02/2017	EOJ	Richard Fuller removed as co-applicant; Victoria Shepherd replaced by Alison Edwards; additional secondary outcome added.
5	2.3	20/06/2017	EOJ	On P1 Prof Robling's details updated; text added to the following sentence on P26: All consultees who have not responded will be contacted by phone or sent a follow-up letter at least once by the individual delegated to undertake the declaration process; on P47 the three month follow-up window changed to -2/+4 weeks.
6	3.0	25/04/2017	EOJ	P3 Change of data manager, change of name of Senior Trial Manger and Research Nurse; P13 and 14 Changes to Trial Schema and Flow Diagram; P10 Changes to terminology and items in Synopsis table; P11, 20 and 21 Clarification and update to secondary endpoints/outcomes; P19-21 Table 5.1 Changes to terminology and items in table; P11, 14, 22 and 24 Change in wording to sample size to "Between 258 and 270 participants, with an upper limit of 330"; P39 "Description of outcome" amended under Secondary – mechanistic: Immune parameters heading; P14, 24, 28, 29 and 34 Change to timing and name of 12-month interview; P28 Timing of study product; P34-

				35 and P48 Detail of follow-ups amended; P40 Change to trial closure.
N/A	3.1	16/10/2018	EOJ	Figure 3.1 Updated – removal of Use of antimicrobials; Table 5.1 Removal of "Use of antimicrobials"; P20-P22 Clarification of outcome measures; Updates to sections 16, 17 and Section 17.2 Description of outcomes and method of statistical analysis.
7	4.0	15/04/2019	EOJ	P12, P15, P37 Section 16 and Appendix 1 (P53 onwards) Addition of qualitative sub- study

2 Synopsis

Short title	Probiotics to Reduce Infections iN CarE home reSidentS
Acronym	PRINCESS
Internal ref. no.	
Trial/study design	Two arm, individually randomised, double blind placebo controlled efficacy trial.
Trial/study participants	Care home residents in Wales and England
Planned sample size	Between 258 and 270 participants, with an upper limit of 330
Follow-up duration	 Follow-up schedule will depend on the length of time that a participant has been in the study. Where possible, participants will have a baseline assessment, and three- and 12-month follow-ups. Due to time limitations, some participants may have a truncated follow-up and will receive either a baseline assessment and 3 month follow-up, or a baseline assessment, 3 month follow-up and a second follow-up between 6-10 months postrandomisation.) Infection, antibiotic use, adverse events and study product use is also recorded at regular intervals by the RN from care home notes for 12 months post randomisation or until 31/10/18, whichever is sooner.
Planned trial/study period	Once daily oral probiotics or placebo for 12 months or until 31/10/18, whichever is sooner

Primary objective	To evaluate the effect of a dose of daily oral probiotics on cumulative systemic antibiotic administration days (CAAD) for all-cause, acute infections
Secondary objectives	There are secondary objectives in infection, health utility, wellbeing, service use, mortality, antimicrobial resistance, oral and gut microbiology, immunology, blood and mechanisms (see section 5)
Primary endpoint	CAAD for all-cause infections over 12 months
Secondary endpoints	 CAAD for five sub-categories of CID (RTI, UTI, skin, GI unexplained fever); number, site, duration (mean and cumulative) of infection; incidence and duration of diarrhoea; EQ-5D (health utility), ICECAP-O (wellbeing); hospitalisations; death; Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) (Culture and antibiotic sensitivity of Gram-negative Enterobacteriaceae and VRE from stool sample and presence of probiotic species in stool to explore adherence and contamination); Antibiotic consumption Mechanistic measures: Blood – FBC and immune cell phenotypes; influenza vaccine response - Haemagglutination inhibition assay; immunology - plasma cytokines and chemokines, TLR2 and TLR4 ligand stimulated cytokines/chemokines, monocyte and neutrophil phagocytosis of E. coli; Vitamin D Saliva – presence of oral Candida species Stool – presence of probiotic bacteria Lactobacillus rhamnosus, LGG and Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis, BB-12, plus presence of AMR bacteria and C. difficile Tertiary outcome: To determine if level of serum vitamin D correlate with colonisation of AMR bacteria in faecal isolates (see section 5). Qualitative sub-study to understand how the trial was conducted within the care home context and identify the mechanisms which affect implementation of trial activities.
Interventions	Daily dose for 12 months of study product - probiotic or matching placebo, or until 31/10/18, whichever is sooner.

3 Trial summary and schema

3.1 Trial schema



* The follow-up schedule will depend on the length of time that a participant has been in the study. Where possible, participants will have a baseline assessment, and three- and 12-month follow-ups. Due to time limitations, some participants may have a truncated follow-up and will receive either a baseline assessment and 3-month follow-up, or a baseline assessment, 3-month follow-up and a second follow-up between 6-10 months post-randomisation. Infection, antibiotic use, adverse events and study product use is also recorded at regular intervals by the RN from care home notes for 12 months post-randomisation or until 31/10/2018, whichever is sooner

3.2 Participant flow diagram



* The follow-up schedule will depend on the length of time that a participant has been in the study. Where possible, participants will have a baseline assessment, and three- and 12month follow-ups. Due to time limitations, some participants may have a truncated follow-up and will receive either a baseline assessment and 3-month follow-up, or a baseline assessment, 3-month follow-up and a second follow-up between 6-10 months post-randomisation. Infection, antibiotic use, adverse events and study product use is also recorded at regular intervals by the RN from care home notes for 12 months post-randomisation or until 31/10/2018, whichever is sooner

3.3 Trial summary

Care home residents (CHR) are prescribed far more antibiotics than the general population because of the high burden of infections they bear, caused by weakened immunity, close-proximity living and multi morbidity (1). In our previous research in care homes, we found CHR took antibiotics for an average of 17.4 days per year (2). High antibiotic use increases the risk of reservoirs of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) in care homes that can spread within care homes and to hospitals and the community (1). This will intensify as the population ages. Infections in CHR cost the NHS >£54 M/year in hospitalisation alone (3) and infections are the commonest reason for CHR to be hospitalised. AMR infections are generally more serious and costly, particularly in older people. Reduction in antibiotic use and AMR could improve quality of life, save money, and help preserve the usefulness of existing antibiotics.

Other than vaccination and hygiene methods, there are few interventions proven to prevent infection in CHR. Probiotics are live bacteria that may confer health benefit by improving immune function and reducing carriage of potentially harmful bacteria. Probiotics are safe and cheap and are available as supplements. Probiotics may mediate positive changes in gut bacteria and therefore decrease immunity decline and infection. Reviews of studies found that probiotics reduced antibiotic use and risk of respiratory tract infections in adults (4) and reduced antibiotic associated diarrhoea (AAD) (5). Probiotics also reduced carriage of AMR bacteria in a review of critically ill patients, and have reduced duration of CID (6) and enhanced immune response, including to flu vaccination (7). However, research in CHR is currently lacking.

The PRINCESS trial will trial a probiotic preparation containing *Lactobacillus rhamnosus*, LGG and *Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis*, BB-12 to determine whether this product prevents infections over a 12 month period. Other probiotic species have not shown benefit in respiratory tract infection (RTI) or immune function in older people (8). We will assess total days on antibiotics for infections (including RTI, urinary tract infection (UTI), skin and gastro-intestinal infection (GI)), immune parameters (including influenza vaccine response), and changes in AMR in bowel flora. We will explore mechanisms, and test if probiotics reduce cumulative antibiotic prescribing days by 10% or more. To detect this we will recruit at least 258 CHR from care homes in Wales and England into an individually randomised trial of probiotic vs placebo, and follow them up for up to 12 months. We will seek informed consent from CHR with capacity, and consult with next of kin/representative for those lacking capacity.

A qualitative sub-study will be conducted at the end of data collection of the main study to understand how the trial was carried out within the care home context and identify the mechanisms which affect implementation of trial activities.

4 Introduction

4.1 Background

Introduction

The PRINCESS trial will evaluate the efficacy and mechanisms of a nutritional intervention (daily probiotics) on (i) cumulative antibiotic administration days (CAAD) for all-cause infections and (ii) incidence and duration of infections in care home residents. Antibiotic prescribing has been found to be associated with isolation of resistant organisms and subsequent infections that are resistant to antibiotics. Fewer and less severe infections may reduce the need for antibiotics in CHR. This may therefore reduce the driving influence on AMR and may reduce the likelihood of subsequent resistant infection.

Care home residents (CHR) are particularly vulnerable to common infectious diseases (CID) (1) which are the commonest cause of hospitalisation in this group, costing the NHS >£54 million/year, and often results in lasting health decline. Frailty, atypical presentation and bacterial colonisation patterns lead to high antibiotic use. Reducing antibiotic prescribing in the expanding care home sector is central to the challenge of containing antimicrobial resistance (AMR) in UK.

Probiotics

Probiotics are "live" microorganisms that, when administered in adequate amounts, confer a health benefit on the host. They are present in certain products available in supermarkets as foodstuffs and in formulations used for specific therapeutic purposes. They may prevent infection by blocking pathogenic colonisation and enhancing gut-immune interaction, with influence on mucosal and systemic immunity, leading to enhanced natural killer (NK) cell activity and vaccine response in the elderly (7). Probiotics are safe and well tolerated (9, 10), and systematic reviews found no serious adverse effects in participants of trials of probiotics for antibiotic associated diarrhoea. Some older people already use them regularly, despite an inadequate evidence base supporting their effect on CIDs. Probiotics are feasible to administer to CHR in the course of routine care: Carlsson and colleagues confirmed feasibility of serving a probiotic intervention to people in care homes with dementia for six months (11). They found it was easy to serve alongside usual diet, there were few side effects and that staff were able to complete the processes and measures. In contrast to antibiotic use, long term probiotic use does not result in resistance in commensal gut organisms (12).

The gastrointestinal tract may be a major reservoir for AMR bacteria. This is important because most urinary tract infections arise from auto-inoculation with organisms for the gut. We will directly assess gut colonisation with AMR bacteria, which may be reduced directly via probiotic-induced colonisation or indirectly via reduced cumulative antibiotic prescription days (CAPD). We will explore the underlying immunological mechanisms, including influenza vaccine response (diminished generally in CHR), probiotic modulation of toll-like receptor (TLR) expression and responses to *ex-vivo* pathogenic challenge.

Existing trials and the research gap

Small trials found benefits from probiotics on AMR colonisation, e.g. a systematic review of multidrug resistant gram negative organisms in critically ill patients (13) and a randomised controlled trial (RCT)

of vancomycin resistant enterococci (VRE) in renal dialysis patients (14). A Cochrane review of probiotics to prevent acute upper respiratory tract infections (URTIs) included 14 RCTs, ten of which were meta analysed (including a total of 3451 participants) (4). Probiotics reduced episodes of acute URTI (OR 0.58 95%CI0.36-0.92) and antibiotic prescribing (OR 0.67, 95% CI 0.45-0.98). Side effects of probiotics were minor. The review noted poor allocation concealment of several studies, and heterogeneity, and recommended that future RCTs should "focus on older people." This is because only four studies have compared probiotics to placebo in older people to prevent infections. Turchet and colleagues performed a single centre pilot study of otherwise well 'free living' elderly, randomised to receive a probiotic containing L. casei or placebo for three weeks (15). They found no differences in frequency of URTI (in this short study), but reduction in the severity and duration of URTIs. Guillemard randomised otherwise well people living in care homes in France to a probiotic containing L. casei or placebo for three months (6). Probiotics decreased the duration of CIDs, especially for URTIs. Makino and colleagues in Japan compared whether the intake of yogurt fermented with Lactobacillus delbrueckii over 12 weeks had an effect on the common cold, and found the risk was 2.6 times lower (OR 0.39) and there was increased in natural killer cell activity in the yoghurt group (16). However, randomisation and concealment may not have been adequate in this study. Van Puyenbroeck and colleagues found no difference in the duration of respiratory symptoms or the probability of respiratory symptoms in 'healthy older people' in nursing homes in Antwerp from a probiotic containing L. casei shirota for 176 days (8). However, relevant medical conditions and cognitive deficits were excluded. Antibiotic prescription rates were not reported. There was a high level of missing selfcomplete diary data that generated analytic challenges. The probiotic we plan to use will be different to the strain used in the Guillemard study. Effects of probiotics are thought to vary by strain due to differing resistance to gastric acid and bile, ability to colonise mucosa and susceptibility to antibiotics. Thus, overall, the evidence base supporting a recommendation for frailer elderly either to consume or not consume probiotics is insufficient to robustly guide care. Therefore, a new trial is warranted that is properly designed in terms of allocation and concealment, that focuses on antibiotic use of all cause infections in all CHR including those without capacity and who are most frail, with reliable, frequent external ascertainment.

PRINCESS will be the first rigorous efficacy RCT of daily probiotic vs. placebo probiotic over 12 months on cumulative antibiotic administration days (CAAD) for infections, and will provide data on cheap, safe and widely accessible interventions for the prevention of infection, antibiotic use and AMR in CHR. Whether or not the trial finds a positive effect, the results will help CHR make evidence based decisions either to take or not take this probiotic product in order to maintain their optimal health and wellbeing. Mechanisms will be explored, in terms of vaccine efficacy, cytokine/ chemokine response to TLR ligand stimulation and probiotic effect on cellular TLR expression. This will extend current mechanisms knowledge regarding the interplay between probiotics, gut microbiota and immune function.

Risks and benefits

Infections are a common cause of suffering and increased resource use in CRHs. Even so-called 'minor infections' such as urinary tract infections and upper respiratory tract infections can have an important negative impact on the health, wellbeing and dignity of older frail people. As people get older, the microbiological diversity in their gut reduces as they are less mobile, eat differently, and their immune systems become less active. Most urinary tract infections arise from infection by organisms in our own

gut. By increasing the diversity of microbiological organisms in the gut, taking probiotics regularly as a food supplement may reduce the prevalence of pathogenic bacteria and stimulate the immune system, adding to overall resilience and general wellbeing as well as reducing infections and antibiotic use. Health care associated infections (HCAI) include CIDs and cause significant debility, hospital admissions and death in CHR, burdening both the health service and care home staff. The risk of deterioration in general physical condition was twice as high in CHR in Norway who develop HCAI and were nine times more likely to be admitted to hospital (17). Ageing is independently associated with reduced immune response to infections (18). Probiotics reduced the incidence of RTIs in the general population, possibly by boosting immune mechanisms (4). Although probiotics carry theoretical risks of causing infection beyond the gut and transferring of antibiotic resistant genes, there have been no reports of bacteraemia or fungaemia attributable to the probiotics in trials (9, 10, 19). Gastrointestinal side effects and rash are generally no more common than in patients on placebo probiotic (5).

4.2 Rationale for current trial

The 2010 Adult Social Care Statistics reported that there were 229,900 people in residential care in England, with numbers predicted to steadily increase. The 2011 census reported that there were 291,000 people over the age of 65 resident in the care home population in England and Wales (20). CHR are particularly prone to infections. The year-long observational study (n=274) identified 609 infections that led to an antibiotic prescription (incidence of 2.16 antibiotic prescriptions per resident year, 95% CI 1.90-2.46). The most common indications were RTI (47% of prescriptions), urinary tract infections UTI (29%) and skin infections (18%) (2). CID in CHR led to suffering, loss of dignity, hospitalisation, GP visits and death. Health needs assessment of 240 CHR in South Tyneside PCT identified 167 hospital admissions accounting for 1595 bed days over a year (21). On average, at least 4 beds in the Acute Trust are used for CHR all year round costing around £400K. About 25% of admissions were due to infection costing £100K in one PCT, or an estimated £54M/year for the UK. CIDs in CHR increase GP and care home burden and costs, impacting on opportunities for other aspects of care. Antibiotic prescribing leads to HCAIs such as C. difficile and drives AMR. The greatest risk of being infected with a AMR compared to a sensitive bacteria is recent consumption of antibiotics, even after controlling for age, comorbidity and other risk factors (22). AMR infections are more serious, last longer and are more costly to manage (23). Probiotics are effective in preventing AAD (5, 19), but we have no adequate data on prevention of all-cause common infections and antibiotic prescribing in care home residents.

There is an urgent need to reduce AMR through infection prevention in care homes. Urinary tract infections (UTIs) are usually caused by auto-inoculation; that is infection from our own bowel organisms. Carriage of AMR bowel organisms increases the chances of an AMR UTI. AMR Gramnegative septicaemia and AMR UTI are on the increase in the community, especially among older people (24). Care homes are a reservoir for AMR that cycle between the community and hospitals (3, 25). There is a steady increase in the care home population, and evidence-based interventions are needed to improve their quality of life through reducing the incidence of CIDs and antibiotic use (26).

In PRINCESS we will study the long-term effect of administering a combination of two probiotics *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG and *Bifidobacterium animalis* subsp. *lactis*, BB-12.

Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG has the most extensive number of human studies in a wide variety of populations including elderly individuals (27). These strains have been found to be safe. Although the effect of these probiotic strains on infections in care home residents or older people has not yet been assessed, relevant evidence proving efficacy in other populations supports its use in this trial. A metaanalysis of RCTs involving 1805 children in total found that Lactobacillus GG was associated with reduced risk of otitis media, upper respiratory tract infections and antibiotic treatments (28). This meta-analysis included a double blind, placebo controlled RCT of 742 hospitalised children found Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG reduced the risk of gastrointestinal (RR 0.40; 0.25-0.70) and respiratory tract infections (RR 0.38; 0.18-0.85) and duration of these infections (29). An RCT of 281 children in day care found that Lactobacillus GG reduced the risk of respiratory tract infections over three months (RR 0.66; 0.52-8.82, NNT=5), and reduced the time with a RTI (30). A double blind RCT found that Lactobacillus GG acts as an immune adjuvant to influenza vaccination as measured by levels of protective antibodies to the H3N2 flu strain. This study stresses the need for future studies of probiotics as immune adjuvants focusing on groups known to have poor response to influenza vaccination (31). When administered orally as lozenges the combination of probiotics has been found to have beneficial effect on oral and dental health: reducing plaque and gingival inflammation without affecting oral microbiota (32).

Many studies include more than one probiotic strain in the intervention, and in several studies, Lactobacillus GG and Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis, BB-12 have been included in the same probiotic formulation (33, 34). A randomised placebo controlled trial of 231 college students taking a combination probiotic including Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis, BB-12 for 12 weeks found that duration and severity of upper respiratory tract infections were improved by the active probiotic (35). A randomised, placebo-controlled, double blind, parallel dose-response study investigated the impact of 4-week commercial yoghurt consumption supplemented with Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis (BB-12). The probiotic strain remained active during gut transit and was associated with an increase in beneficial bacteria and a reduction in potentially pathogenic bacteria (36). In a double-blind, placebo- controlled study, 109 new-born 1-month-old infants receiving Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis BB-12 were reported to have experienced fewer respiratory infections (65 v. 94 %; risk ratio 0.69; 95 % CI 0.53, 0.89; P = 0.014) than the control infants (37). A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study Infant formula supplemented with the probiotics Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG and Bifidobacterium lactis Bb-12 or placebo was administered daily until the age of 12 months. Those receiving the active probiotic had fewer episodes of otitis media, received fewer courses of antibiotics in the course of routine care, and had fewer recurrent respiratory infections (38). A multispecies probiotic supplementation that included Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG and Bifidobacterium animalis ssp. lactis Bb12 reduced symptoms of irritable bowel syndrome and stabilised the bowel microbiota (39). A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial in 12 wards in two nursing homes in Finland involving 209 residents received either 109 CFU/day Bifidobacterium longum strains or 2) 109 CFU/day Bifidobacterium lactis Bb12 or 3) placebo for 7 months. Compliance was 85%, and the groups receiving active products had more frequent bowel movements than the placebo group (40). In a 7-week double-blind crossover study, 36 subjects were randomised to receiving yoghurt with Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis BB-12 or placebo. BB-12 was safe. The defecation frequency during the BB-12 intake period was increased compared to the no-intake period for group, and comfort after defecation improved significantly (41).

Thus, while both of the proposed probiotic strains have never been evaluated for the purposes intended in the PRINCESS trial; there is evidence from other population groups that these strains have the effect of reducing frequency, severity and duration of infections and stabilising bowel flora. Many infections in the elderly result in autoinoculation from the bowel. It could be likely that the two strains may supplement each other in terms of efficacy due to different mode of actions.

5 Trial objectives and outcomes

HYPOTHESIS (Primary): Daily oral probiotic reduces CAAD for infection vs placebo in CHR.

HYPOTHESIS (Mechanisms): Daily oral probiotic reduces gastrointestinal colonisation with AMR bacteria, enhances influenza vaccine response and modulates *ex-vivo* cytokine and chemokine response to Toll Like Receptor (TLR) agonists vs placebo in CHR.

5.1 Primary and secondary objectives and outcome measures

	Objectives	Outcome Measures	Timepoint(s)* of
			evaluation of this
			outcome measure
Primary	To evaluate the effect of a	CAAD for all cause infections; Total number	Over a 12* month
	daily dose of oral probiotics on	of days of systemic antibiotic administration	period (data
	cumulative systemic antibiotic	as recorded in care home medical records	recorded at regular
	administration days (CAAD)	and discharge summaries if the participant	intervals by RN from
	for all-cause, acute infections	is admitted to hospital	care home records)
Secondary	To determine the effect of		
	daily probiotic intake;		
Infection	On CAAD for the following sub-categories of infection; respiratory tract infections (RTI), urinary tract infections (UTI), skin infections, gastrointestinal infections (GI), unexplained fever and other	Total number of days of antibiotic administration for each infection type as recorded in care home medical records (collect generic name and mode of delivery) (to be recorded as defined daily dose multiples) Number, site, duration (mean and cumulative) of infection.	Over a 12* month period (data recorded at regular intervals by RN from care home records)
	On incidence and duration of diarrhoea in CHR who are being treated with oral antibiotics	Estimation of incidence and duration of all cause diarrhoea in CHR when taking (and also not taking) oral antibiotic treatment Estimation of incidence and duration of antibiotic-associated diarrhoea in CHR when taking oral antibiotic treatment	Question asked by RN and recorded on weekly record sheet Question asked by RN and recorded on weekly record sheet

	The site, incidence and		Over a 12* month
	duration of infection (RTI, UTI,		period (data
	skin infection GL and		recorded at regular
	unexplained fever)		intervals by RN from
			care home records)
			care nome records)
	On prevalence of <i>C</i> difficile	Stool sample laboratory analysis	At baseline 3* and
	infection (clinical and		up to 12* months
	hacteriological evidence of C		
	difficile colonisation)		
Health Litility	On participants health utility	Self and/or provy reported health related	At baseline 2* and
fiedicit Othicy	On participants health utility	quality of life measurement EO5D (51)	up to 12* months
Wellbeing	On participants wellbeing	Self and/or provy reported (CEpon	At baseline 3* and
wendenig	On participants wendering	CAPability massure for Older people	up to 12* months
Hospitalisation		In relation to infections: number of hespital	In 2 12 month*
nospitalisation	NITS SELVICE USE	stays for all cause bespitalisation (as	noriod (data
		stays for an-cause hospitalisation (as	
		discharge expression	recorded at regular
		discharge summaries)	Intervals by RN from
			care nome records)
Mortality	Mortality rates	Total number of deaths of trial participants	In a 12* month
wortancy	Wortanty rates	(collected from care home records)	neriod (data
			recorded at regular
			intonyals by PN from
			are home records)
Antimicrobial	Costraintestinal colonisation	Culture and antibiotic consitivity of Crom	Care nome records)
resistence	Gastrointestinal colonisation	culture and antibiotic sensitivity of Gram-	Samples taken at
resistance			Daseline, 3° and 12°
	(AMR) bacteria	vancomycin resistant enterococci (VRE)	months
Oral mianahiala av		from stool sample	Comulas takan at
Oral microbiology	Levels of oral Candida	semi quantitative analysis of oral rinse or	Samples taken at
		saliva samples	baseline, 3* and up
			to 12* months
	innuenza vaccine efficacy	вооо sample - наетаggiutinatin innibition	Sample taken on the
response (for those		assay and antibody titers	day of (or up to 10
who have received			days prior to), and 4
Influenza vaccine			weeks (28 days) post
only)			influenza vaccination
			(trial participants
			need to have been
			on Study Product for
			at least 2 months
			prior to influenza
			vaccination to take
			part in this sub-
			study)
Immunology (ex-vivo	Participant's cytokine and	Response measured by laboratory analysis	Baseline and up to
responses to	chemokine response in whole	in whole blood (stimulated ex-vivo by TLR2	12* months
		and TLR4 agonists)	

pathogenic	blood samples stimulated ex-		
challenge) (n≈100)	vivo by TI B2 and TI B4 agonists		
	Participant's plasma cytokines	Measurement of plasma cytokines and	Baseline and up to
	and chemokines	chemokines in plasma and whole blood	12* months
			12 months
	Participant's monocyte and	Measurement of monocyte and neutrophil	Baseline and up to
	neutrophil phagocytosis of	phagocytosis of <i>E.coli</i>	12 months*
	E.coli		
Gut microbiology	Quantify the amount of	Investigative work to analyse level of	Samples taken at
	probiotic in stool samples	Lactobacillus rhamnosus, LGG and	baseline, 3* and up
		Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis, BB-	to 12* months
		12 from stool sample	
Haematology and	Haematology; biochemistry	Full blood count (FBC) including immune	FBC and Vitamin D at
Biochemistry		phenotyping; vitamin D	Baseline (all
			participants); FBC on
			n≈100 (immunology
			participants only)
			and up to 12 months
Tertiary	To determine if the level of	Level of serum vitamin D and AMR	Baseline
	serum vitamin D at baseline	colonisation within faecal sample	
	correlate with colonisation of		
	AMR bacteria in faecal isolates		
Additional baseline		Demographic information (to include age);	Baseline
measurements		clinical frailty score; use of proton pump	
		inhibitors, laxatives and dose of Vitamin D	
Other		Record whether trial participant refused to	Over 12* months
		give blood/saliva/stool sample	from care home
-			resident record
		Ask care home staff what arm they think	12 month CRF
		the trial participant is in	
		Record most common method of delivery	Over 12* months
		of study product e.g. swallowed with water	from MARS sheet
		or sprinkled on food/drink	
Qualitative sub-study	To understand how the trial	With trial participants; consultees; relatives	At the end of data
	was carried out within the	or friends; care home managers; care home	collection
	care home context and to	staff; and research nurses	
	identify the mechanisms with		
	affect implementation of trial		
	activities		

* The follow-up schedule will depend on the length of time that a participant has been in the study. Where possible, participants will have a baseline assessment, and three- and 12-month follow-ups. Due to time limitations, some participants may have a truncated follow-up and will receive either a baseline assessment and 3-month follow-up, or a baseline assessment, 3-month follow-up and a second follow-up between 6-10 months post-randomisation. Infection, antibiotic use, adverse events and study product use is also recorded at regular intervals by the RN from care home notes for 12 months post-randomisation or until 31/10/2018, whichever is sooner

All tissue samples donated by trial participants will be taken on the understanding that they may be used for future research projects in the UK. The samples will be stored and subsequently distributed to approved projects in accordance with the Human Tissue Act and ethical legislation. This statement will form part of the consent procedure.

6 Trial design

A double blind, individually randomised two arm trial design to assess the effect of a daily oral probiotic versus placebo on CAAD for infection in at least 258 Care Home Residents.

6.1 Internal Pilot

A three month internal pilot phase will assess:

- CHR recruitment rate assumptions
- The suitability of the data collection tools and processes
- Study product administration rate
- The robustness of the sample collection and shipment processes

Information gathered during this period will be used to inform any changes to the main trial design or procedures. It is not anticipated that any substantial changes will be required. All trial procedures, participant visit and sample collection detailed below will be carried out during the internal pilot. All participants will be followed up for as long as possible to a maximum of 12 months.

We anticipate recruiting four care homes for the internal pilot – approximately two in the South Wales area and approximately two in the Oxford area. These four care homes should have at least 30 residents in each home.

7 Care Home and Investigator selection

We anticipate that a total of approximately 20 care homes located in Wales and England will be recruited to the trial. We will aim to recruit larger care homes with a minimum of 50 CHR in order to organise and plan recruitment. Care homes with less than 50 CHR may be selected if they have adequate recruitment potential. The manager of the care homes will be approached to obtain permission for the care home to take part in the trial and for all CHR to be approached about the trial.

The senior care home staff / nursing staff will ensure that the following documents have been received by the coordinating centre (see contact details on page 2):

- Site Specific Assessment approval for the care home
- A signed trial agreement (care home lead and sponsor signature)
- Completed signature list and roles and responsibilities document
- Completed contacts list of all site personnel working on the trial
- Participant/consultee information sheets and consent/declaration forms

Upon receipt of all the above documents, the coordinating centre will send a confirmation letter to the care home lead detailing that the care home is now ready to recruit participants into the trial. The coordinating centre will also provide the care home with a site file, in which the confirmation letter should be filed. The care home will also be provided with all documents required to recruit a participant into the PRINCESS trial and trial supplies.

8 Participant selection

8.1 Trial population

Care home residents in Wales and England.

Participants are eligible for the trial if they meet all of the following inclusion criteria and none of the exclusion criteria. All queries about patient eligibility should be directed to the coordinating centre before randomisation.

8.2 Inclusion criteria

- Currently living in a care home setting (residential, nursing or mixed)
- Participant is willing and able to give informed consent for participation in the trial OR if the participant lacks capacity, a consultee is willing to complete a consultee declaration form
- Aged 65 years or older

8.3 Exclusion criteria

The CHR may not enter the trial if **ANY** of the following apply:

- Is known to be immunocompromised (requiring immunosuppressants, long term high dose oral, intramuscular or intravenous steroids)
- Is currently taking regular probiotics and is not willing to adapt to trial protocol
- Is currently participating in a CTIMP, or has been a participant in a CTIMP in the last thirty days
- Is a temporary care home resident (i.e. less than 1 month of planned transitional/respite residential care)
- Death is thought to be imminent
- Lactose intolerant

9 Outcome measures

9.1 Primary outcome measure

Please see section 5 Trial objectives and outcomes.

9.2 Secondary outcome measure

Please see section 5 Trial objectives and outcomes.

10 Recruitment and randomisation

10.1 Number of participants

A total of between 258 and 270 participants, with an upper limit of 330 participants will be recruited.

10.2 Recruitment process

The PRINCESS trial will randomise at least 258 care home residents (CHR) to either receive probiotics or placebo treatment for 12 months or until 31/10/2018, whichever is sooner. In order to achieve this target we estimate that 660 care home residents from approximately 20 care homes will need to be invited to participate in the trial. Care home staff, nursing staff and/or PRINCESS Trial Research Nurses (RNs) will identify those CHR who are potentially eligible to join the trial.

A screening log of all ineligible and eligible but not consented/not approached CHR will be kept at each care home so that any biases from differential recruitment can be explored. The screening log should be sent to the coordinating centre on request (see section 21 for further detail on data monitoring/quality assurance).

The participant's GP will be informed of the participant's entry into the trial. Each GP will be provided with a summary of the trial and the participant information sheet (PIS) plus any other information they may require as appropriate. It will be made clear that the research team will collect data on infections but that all clinical assessments and management of any infections will remain the responsibility of the GP.

Care homes will be provided with information on prevalence of *C. difficile* infection arising at their care home.

Each Care Home will receive £750 to cover their involvement – this will consist of £400 to help with set-up costs, and £350 six months later if participants have been recruited.

10.3 Informed consent

There are two categories of CHR who are eligible to join the trial; those who have capacity and are able to consent for themselves and those unable to consent for themselves (lack capacity). Consent procedures will differ according to the mental capacity of the CHR. Informed consent or a consultee declaration (see below) must be obtained prior to any trial procedures being undertaken.

The following information sheets apply:

Participant

- Pictorial Participant Information Booklet
- Participant Information Booklet
- Participant Consent Form
- Participant Information Booklet Update^

Consultee

- Consultee Information Booklet
- Consultee Declaration Form
- Consultee Information Booklet Update^

^ These updates will be used in addition to the Booklets for those trial participants who will not be getting the full 12-month follow-up

Mental Capacity Assessment: Mental capacity will be assessed according to the Mental Capacity Act 2005, which provides a legal framework within which health and care professionals must act. As such all care homes have senior staff members who are fully trained to assess the mental capacity of CHR at any time. This Code of Practice (42) provides comprehensive advice on good practice for the assessment of capacity, which is time and decision-specific and depends on clinical judgement within a valid contestable process.

According to the Mental Capacity Act, the CHR will be assumed to have capacity unless it is established that they lack capacity, all practicable steps having been made to help them do so. Where there is a concern that a CHR lacks capacity to provide informed consent for themselves to participate in the trial, the CHR will be assessed for mental capacity by delegated individuals (e.g. senior care home staff/nursing staff/RNs). A standard template for recording of the mental capacity assessment will be provided to care homes, together with specific training on the use of this template. This document will be reviewed by a delegated individual (e.g. senior care home staff/RN) to enable a decision to be made regarding the mental capacity of the CHR, prior to taking consent from the CHR or a consultee declaration from their representative if the CHR is assessed as lacking capacity.

For both CHR with capacity and those lacking capacity: All potentially eligible CHR or their consultee will be fully informed about the trial through the PIS or CIS respectively supplemented with verbal explanations. The detailed PIS and CIS will include: the exact nature of the trial; what it will involve for the participant (and consultee, if applicable); the implications and constraints of the protocol; the known side effects and any risks involved in taking part. It will be clearly stated that the participant is free to withdraw/be withdrawn from the trial at any time for any reason without prejudice to future care, and with no obligation to give the reason for withdrawal.

The participant or consultee will be allowed as much time as they need to consider the information, and the opportunity to ask questions. Written Informed Consent (or exceptions as listed below) or Consultee Declaration will then be obtained by means of participant or consultee dated signature, respectively, and dated signature of the person who presented and obtained the Informed Consent/Consultee Declaration. The consent/declaration process will be undertaken by a suitably qualified and experienced delegated individual who has been authorised to do so by the Chief/Principal Investigator (e.g. care home staff/nursing staff/RN). A copy of the signed Informed Consent or Declaration Form will be given to the participant or consultee, respectively. The original signed form will be retained at the trial site.

Eligible CHR may participate in the trial even if they (or their consultee) prefer to opt out of the participant providing blood and/or stool and/or saliva samples.

Specific consent will be sought at trial entry from CHR with capacity to remain in the trial should capacity be lost during the trial.

CHR lacking capacity: Where a CHR lacks capacity to provide consent for themselves, a legal representative/guardian will be consulted who acts as their 'consultee'. The consultee may be a friend or unpaid carer or relative, an attorney acting under a lasting power of attorney, or a court appointed deputy who has a relationship or personal knowledge of the person who lacks capacity. The consultee will be provided with information about the trial and they will be asked their advice regarding the inclusion of the person and what the person's views would have been regarding inclusion in the research if they had capacity to make the decision for themselves. In the event that a consultee who has an unpaid or non-professional role in caring for the person cannot be identified, or is not willing to act, a nominated consultee will be appointed and consulted prior to including the resident in the trial.

In the event that a consultee themselves loses capacity or dies during the trial period, an alternative representative will be contacted to act as consultee and a new consultee Declaration Form will be completed. If there is no one to represent the CHR in the trial, the CHR will be excluded or withdrawn depending on whether a CHR has already been recruited to the trial.

If a participant regains capacity during the trial period, the participant will be fully informed about the trial and informed consent to remain in the trial will be obtained from the participant.

Consultee Declaration by post: If a consultee is required and they cannot attend a face-to-face interview for the declaration process, the above documents may be sent by post from the care homes. The delegated individual (e.g. care home senior staff/RN) will countersign the signed and dated consultee declaration form returned by the consultee and a copy of the completed consultee Declaration Form will then be sent to the consultee. The original consultee Declaration Form will be retained at the trial site. All consultees who have not responded will be contacted by phone or sent a follow-up letter at least once by the individual delegated to undertake the declaration process.

Verbal consent/declaration: In the event that a CHR with capacity or a consultee for a CHR lacking capacity cannot provide handwritten signatures on the Consent/Declaration Form, verbal consent will be taken. In such cases, a delegated individual (e.g. senior care home staff) will read and discuss the trial with the CHR or their consultee to ensure understanding of the trial protocol. A member of the research team will witness, sign and date the Consent/Declaration Form to approve that consent or a consultee declaration has been given.

10.4 Randomisation/registration and unblinding

Participants will be remotely randomised using an online computerised randomisation system created by the University of Oxford Primary Care Clinical trials Unit (PCCTU). The system will be operational 24 hours a day.

Randomisation will be performed by the RN <u>only</u> after the participant has signed the Consent Form (or their consultee has signed a consultee Declaration Form) and completed the baseline assessments.

The RNs will be provided with an individual login ID to the online system. Participants will be randomised to either probiotic or placebo.

As PRINCESS is a double-blind trial, the participants, care home staff, treating clinicians, and trial team (including the trial statistician and RNs conducting all assessments) will be unaware of the group to which the participant has been allocated for the duration of the trial.

Each Study Product pack (probiotic or placebo) will be labelled with a unique identification number (pack ID). The online system will allocate a pack ID for each participant. The pack will contain one month's supply of study product (see section 12). The first allocation of study product will be a two month supply (two trial packs), but will be for one month (one trial pack) thereafter.

The participant ID should be entered on the pack label and both the participant ID and pack ID should be entered onto the CRF by the randomiser. The coordinating centres will also be notified that a participant has been randomised via an automated e-mail alert mechanism.

When a new study product pack is required (i.e. on a monthly basis): the delegated individual should enter the participant ID into the online system and will be allocated another pack ID. The participant ID should then be entered onto the pack label and the pack ID entered onto the paper CRF.

The unique participant IDs and pack IDs will be linked in the randomisation file, which will only be accessible by a statistician who is independent of the trial.

For more details, please consult the PRINCESS randomisation protocol.

Randomisation

To randomise a patient log on to https://ctu1.phc.ox.ac.uk/randomise

Unblinding: There will not be an emergency unblinding procedure – care homes will be advised to stop study product administration if this is necessary. Unblinding will be available during normal office working hours.

In the event that the participant needs to be unblinded, the care home staff are directed to contact the PRINCESS team on 02920 687601. The PRINCESS unblinding procedure will be followed to unblind the participant and in this case the unblinding of a randomised trial participant can only be carried out by a suitable delegated individual at SEWTU.

10.5 Screening logs

A screening log of all ineligible and eligible but not consented/not approached will be kept at each centre so that any biases from differential recruitment will be detected. The screening log should be sent to the PRINCESS Trial Manager (see section 21 for further detail on data monitoring/quality assurance).

11 Withdrawal & loss to follow-up

Each participant/consultee has the right to withdraw from any aspect of the trial at any time. The participant's care will not be affected at any time by declining to participate or withdrawing from the trial. Clear distinction must be made as to what aspect of the trial the participant is withdrawing or is withdrawn from. These aspects could be:

- Withdrawal from entire trial and does not want any data or samples already collected relating to them to be used
- Withdrawal from trial, study product and all subsequent trial follow-up (sample collection and data collection), but data and samples already obtained up to this point can be used
- Withdrawal from study product but happy to continue with follow-up processes (to include data collection and/or sample collection) this may be due to a request to withdraw, or as a result of a change in the participant's condition or circumstances which justifies the discontinuation of the study product
- Withdrawal from study product and all subsequent sample and questionnaire data collection, but happy for routine care record data to be collected.

If a participant wishes to withdraw from the trial or is withdrawn all trial data collected to that date will be included in the final analysis subject to the appropriate consent being in place. The reason for participant withdrawal will be detailed in a Case Report Form (CRF) and reviewed by the CI and independent committee. Any queries relating to potential withdrawal of a participant should be forwarded to the coordinating centre immediately.

12 Intervention

Participants in the PRINCESS trial will be asked to take an oral dose of probiotic (*Lactobacillus rhamnosus*, LGG and *Bifidobacterium animalis* subsp. *lactis*, BB-12) or a matched placebo once daily for 12 months or until 31/10/18, whichever is sooner. The probiotic or placebo (referred to as Study Product) will be administered by the CHR's normal care giver and provided in capsule form. The preferred route of administration will be in the following order:

- 1) The capsule swallowed whole with water
- 2) The capsule emptied into a small amount of cold or lukewarm liquid and then swallowed
- 3) The capsule opened and its contents sprinkled onto cold or lukewarm food (not hot food) and then eaten

Suitability for religious groups and dietary preferences

The capsules are suitable for vegans, are Halal and Kosher (Kosher dairy excluding Passover), do not contain any genetically modified organisms or genetically modified raw materials, and allergen labelling is not required. The capsules do contain lactose. Care homes will be provided with documentation detailing the composition of the capsules.

The capsules are stable at room temperature for two years and temperature monitoring is not required for short term (e.g. one month) storage.

Labelling and recording

The capsules will be provided to the care home labelled with a unique pack ID. Packs will be allocated to participants on a monthly basis. The delegated individual (e.g. RN) should enter the participant ID into the online pack allocation system (see section 10.4) and will be allocated a pack ID. The participant ID should then be entered onto the pack label and the CRF completed.

Participants admitted to hospital would not be expected to continue taking the study product during their hospital stay.

12.1 Adherence

Data regarding participant's adherence to the study product will be collected from a number of sources:

- MAR sheets administration of the study product will be recorded by care home staff using Medication Administration Record sheets (MAR sheets) and monitored by RNs during their visits to each care home. MAR sheet are used in most care homes and will allow incorporation of trial procedures into routine practice easily. If MAR sheets or an equivalent recording system is not used routinely by any care home participating in the PRINCESS trial the research team will provide MAR sheets and training as appropriate.
- Presence of probiotic organisms in bowel the presence of the probiotic organisms will be assessed in stool samples of participants at baseline, three and up to 12 months. This will give an indication of adherence, survival of the probiotic in the large bowl and potential contamination in the placebo arm.
- Capsule count regular counts of unused study product will be undertaken by the PRINCESS trial research nurses.

13 Adverse Events (Safety)

13.1 General Definitions

Adverse Event (AE): Any untoward medical occurrence in a trial participant which does not necessarily have a causal relationship with this treatment. An AE can therefore be any unfavourable and unintended sign (including abnormal laboratory finding), symptom, or disease.

Serious Adverse Event (SAE): Any adverse event that:

- Results in death
- Is life-threatening*
- Required hospitalisation or prolongation of existing hospitalisation**
- Results in persistent or significant disability or incapacity
- Consists of a congenital anomaly or birth defect
- Other medically important condition ***

* Note: The term "life-threatening" in the definition of serious refers to an event in which the participant was at risk of death at the time of the event; it does not refer to an event which hypothetically might have caused death if it were more severe.

** Note: Hospitalisation is defined as an inpatient admission (at least an overnight stay), regardless of the length of stay, even if the hospitalisation is a precautionary measure, for continued observation. Pre-planned hospitalisation e.g. for pre-existing conditions which have not worsened or elective procedures does not constitute an adverse event.

*** Note: other events that may not result in death are not life-threatening, or do not require hospitalisation may be considered as a serious adverse event when, based upon appropriate medical judgement, the event may jeopardise the participant and may require medical or surgical intervention to prevent one of the outcomes listed above.

An SAE occurring to a research participant should be reported to the main REC where in the opinion of the CI the event was:

- Related that is, it resulted from administration of any of the research procedures, and
- Unexpected that is, the type of event is not listed in the protocol as an expected occurrence

Serious Adverse Reaction (SAR)

For ease of recording and reporting, in this study an SAE thought to be probably or definitely related to the trial/study or intervention (see causality section below) will be referred to as a Serious Adverse Reaction (SAR).

13.2 Causality

Causality should be assigned using the definitions in the table below.

For AEs, this assignment should be made by the delegated RN. For SAEs this assignment should be made by the delegated RN and delegated second assessor (e.g another RN or a clinician involved in the study) and the assessment confirmed by the Chief Investigator or a delegated Clinical Reviewer.

Relationship	Description			
Unrelated	There is no evidence of any causal relationship with the trial/study or intervention			
Unlikely	There is little evidence to suggest there is a casual relationship (e.g. the event did not			
	occur within a reasonable time after intervention) with the study/trial or intervention.			
	There is another reasonable explanation for the event (e.g. the participant's clinical			
	condition, other treatment).			
Possible	There is some evidence to suggest a causal relationship with the trial/study or			
	intervention (e.g. because the event occurs within a reasonable time after intervention).			
	However, the influence of other factors may have contributed to the event (e.g. the			
	participant's clinical condition, other treatments).			
Probable	There is evidence to suggest a causal relationship and the influence of other factors is			
	unlikely.			
Definite	There is clear evidence to suggest a causal relationship and other possible contributing			
	factors can be ruled out.			

13.3 Expectedness

In this study only SARs will be assessed for expectedness by the CI (or delegated Clinical Reviewer).

Based on the manufacturer's information and review of the literature, at the time of writing, any SAR occurring in this study should be classed as unexpected. However, as the manufacturer's safety information is updated every two years and new literature maybe published at any time, when assessing expectedness the CI (or delegated Clinical Reviewer) should refer to the PRINCESS safety reporting management plan as a separate document to the protocol.

Summary of current manufacturer's information

CHR Hansen's safety and origin information sheet published in March 2015 states that the probiotic strains BB-12 and LGG have been used worldwide since 1985 and 1990 as an ingredient in food and dietary supplements with no reported consumer illness or injury, and that the BB-12 and LGG strains have been tested in more than 140 and 250 clinical studies respectively from new-born pre-term infants to elderly in doses up to at least 100 billion CFU/day with no reported adverse events. Therefore, we do not anticipate any adverse events based on the current manufacturers information.

Summary of current literature

Based on an extensive review of the literature the CI has concluded that probiotics, including the strains used in PRINCESS, are generally well tolerated by the elderly and the risks to CHR associated with the probiotics used in PRINCESS are very low. A recent paper summarises the current risks (43): Infections (e.g. septicaemia) caused by the probiotic bacteria have not been reported in trials; theoretical risks of gene transfer of antibiotic resistance and over stimulation of the immune response have not been reported; although deleterious metabolic activities e.g. bowel ischemia and D-lactic acidosis in patients with pancreatitis have been reported, the mode of probiotic delivery was different to PRINCESS. Therefore, if any of the above events were to occur in PRINCESS they would be unexpected.

Minor gastrointestinal symptoms such as abdominal cramping, nausea, soft stools, flatulence and taste disturbance have been reported and it is also possible that a minor allergic reaction could occur. If these events were to occur, they would be classed as expected AEs, but would be unexpected if they fulfilled the definition of a SAR.

Summary of current expected events related to the study procedures

There is a risk of haematoma at the site of venepuncture for a study blood sample; however this would only be expected to be an AE. If the event fulfilled a definition of a SAR, it would be classed as unexpected.

13.4 Reporting procedures

This study is not a CTIMP and the probiotic being used is a well-established food supplement. The study population will have a vast number of health events in the normal course of their care at this stage in their lives. Given the potential frailty of the trial population and the high incidence of hospitalisation and death in the course of routine care, we would aim to not cloud any true emerging safety profile by collection of unrelated data. The following reporting procedure should be used for

PRINCESS. Any queries concerning adverse event reporting should be directed to the PRINCESS Trial Manager in the first instance.

Adverse events will be initially identified either through the PI/Care home staff identifying that an adverse event has occurred and informing the RN/TM, or during routine weekly data collection by the RN.

- Non-serious Adverse Events with the causality classification of probably or definitely related to:
 - the study product (such as gastrointestinal symptoms, or ingredient-related allergic reaction)
 - or study procedures (such as a haematoma at the site of venepuncture for a study sample)

will be collected as part of routine follow-up (recorded by the RN on the PRINCESS Weekly Record and Weekly Record: Further Information CRF) from the time of consent until the 6 to 12 month follow-up period.

- **Other non-serious AEs** will not be collected. The PI/CHS should manage AEs according to routine care home procedures.
- All Serious Adverse Events (SAEs) will be collected as part of routine follow-up (recorded by the RN on the PRINCESS Weekly Record and Weekly Record: Further Information CRF) from the time of consent until the 12 month follow-up period. SAEs will be discussed (in person, by phone or by email) by the RN with a second delegated assessor (e.g. another RN or a clinician involved in the study) to confirm the causality classification (definitely, probably, possibly, unlikely, not related). The details of the second assessment will be recorded on the PRINCESS Weekly Record: Further Information CRF. Where there is a difference in classification between the two assessors, the highest category of causality (most likely to be related) will be selected.
- Serious Adverse Reaction (SAR): If the Serious Adverse Event (SAE) is classified as being
 probably or definitely related to study procedures or the study product (such as septicaemia
 and the suspected pathogen is identified as either of the strains used in the PRINCESS study
 product) it is a classed as a Serious Adverse Reaction (SAR). A SAR reporting form should also
 be completed by the RN and returned directly to the TM (or delegate), or faxed to SEWTU on
 02031 070875 with a follow up email (PRINCESS@Cardiff.ac.uk) within 4 days of the RN
 becoming aware of the event.

Further information may be required from reviewing the participant's care home records, or reported by care home staff liaising with clinical teams caring for the resident (GP, secondary care).

All SAR reporting forms received by SEWTU will be subject to clinical review by the CI or delegate to confirm causality and assess expectedness.

SEWTU will notify the Sponsor and main REC of all related and unexpected SAEs (i.e. all unexpected SARs) occurring during the trial within **15** calendar days of the CI becoming aware of the event. All

SARs will be reported to the monitoring committees (TMG, TSC and IDMC), sponsor and CHR Hansen (study product manufacturer) as required by the relevant committee/party. All unrelated SAEs will be reported to the TMG and included in the annual report to the IDMC, and any arising safety concerns will also be reported to the main REC as part of the annual progress report.



SAE Flowchart



14 Adverse Events (Human Tissue)

14.1 General Definitions:

(Human Tissue) Adverse Event: Any untoward occurrence associated with the procurement, testing, processing, storage and distribution of relevant material and cells that might lead to loss or damage of relevant material or breach procedures protecting the donor and/or relevant material.

Where **Relevant Material** means any material, other than gametes, removed from the body which consists of or includes human cells. In the Human Tissue Act references to relevant material from a human body do not include:

- embryos outside the human body,
- hair and nail from the body of a living person,
- cell lines or any other human material created outside the human body,
- serum, plasma, DNA and RNA,

14.2 PRINCESS Reporting Procedures:

Any Human Tissue Adverse Event thought to be related to the stool, blood or saliva samples (such as sample being taken without consent, an incorrectly labelled or lost sample, or spillage during transport) will be collected as part of routine follow-up (recorded by the RN on the PRINCESS Weekly Record and Weekly Record: Further Information CRF and monitored by SEWTU) from the time of consent until the 12 month follow-up period.

SEWTU will notify the Sponsor of all human tissue adverse events occurring during the trial, and all other requirements as specified by the Human Tissue Act.

15 Trial procedures

15.1 Location

All trial appointments will take place at the care home where the participant is resident. All trial procedures will be carried out by either the participants' normal care providers or by RNs.

15.2 Data collection/assessment

Eligible participants or their consultee will have an appointment arranged at which informed consent or a consultee declaration (see section 10.3) will be obtained. A second baseline appointment will be made, at which baseline samples will be taken, and baseline data recorded.

The follow-up schedule will depend on the length of time that a participant has been in the study.

Where possible, participants will have a baseline assessment, and three- and 12-month follow-ups (participants randomised pre-December 2017).

Due to time limitations, some participants may have a truncated follow-up and will receive either a baseline assessment and 3 month follow-up (those randomised in May 2018), or a baseline

assessment, 3 month follow-up and a second follow-up between 6-10 months post-randomisation (those randomised between December 2017 and April 2018).

The target window for the 3-month follow-up is -2/+4 weeks.

The target window for the 12-month follow-up is 11 months +/- 1 month.

Infection, antibiotic use, adverse events and study product use will also be recorded by the RN from care home notes at regular intervals using the weekly record forms for 12 months post randomisation or until 31/10/18, whichever is sooner.

A sub-set of patients who have been taking the study product for a minimum of two months and who have had an influenza vaccination after the two month period will have an appointment arranged to attend a third appointment about four weeks (28 days) after the influenza vaccine.

Influenza vaccinations will be administered via routine care. The date of administration will be recorded.

15.3 Trial samples

All trial participants: All trial participants will be asked to provide blood samples at baseline - a full blood count and vitamin D levels will be measured for each participant - the volume of blood taken will be no more than 10ml. At 12 months a full blood count will be measured for around 150 participants - the volume of blood taken will be no more than 4ml.

Immunology: For a sample of around 100 trial participants some additional immunology work (detailed in section 5.1) will be done and an additional blood sample will be taken at baseline and up to 12 months – the volume of blood taken will be no more than 6ml at each timepoint. The sample will be taken at the same time as the other blood samples.

Flu vaccine response sub-study: A sub-set of patients will be asked to provide a blood sample on the day of (or up to 10 days prior to this), and four weeks (28 days) after they receive their routine seasonal influenza vaccination. For those agreeing to take part in this flu vaccine response sub-study, 5ml of blood will be taken on the day of, and four weeks after receipt of the influenza vaccination, giving a total of no more than 10ml of blood collected.

Blood samples will be taken by the RN who, if needed, will have undergone geriatric phlebotomy training, or by a care home staff member if for example, they are already taking a blood sample for routine care, and/or the care home resident prefers this. The total volume of blood collected during the 6 to 12 month duration of the trial on any one participant will be no more than 36ml.

Each participant will be asked to provide a stool sample at baseline, three months and up to 12 months. The participants normal care provider will be asked to collect the stool samples.

Each participant will be asked to provide a saliva samples (saliva sample or oral rinse) at baseline, three months and up to 12 months.

If participants prefer not to provide any or all of the trial samples listed above this will not be a barrier to their entry to the PRINCESS trial.

All samples will be labelled with the participant unique trial identification number before being sent for analysis. Only fully trained and authorised members of the research team and laboratory staff will have access to the samples. The CI will ensure that the storage, analysis and disposal of all clinical samples will meet the requirements of the Human Tissue Act, 2004.

All tissue samples donated by trial participants will be taken on the understanding that they may be used for future research projects in the UK. The samples will be stored and subsequently distributed to approved projects in accordance with the Human Tissue Act and ethical legislation.

Any blood/saliva/stool test results will not be reported back to the CHR GP as they are being collected only for research purposes and will not be analysed in real-time.

15.4 Follow-up

The three and 6 to 12 month follow-up visit is detailed above in section 15.3.

16 Qualitative sub-study

In addition to the main PRINCESS trial, a qualitative sub-study will be conducted after the end of data collection. The sub-study will consent PRINCESS trial participants, consultees, research nurses, care home staff and care home managers. The aim of the sub-study is to interview these groups of people about their involvement in the PRINCESS trial, and to examine how the PRINCESS research activities were carried out within the care home environment. The protocol for this sub-study can be found in Appendix 1.

16.1 Justification

The set-up and the implementation of the PRINCESS trial was informed through past experience of other studies undertaken in care homes, as well as research around alternative models of consent (44-46). This qualitative study aims to examine how PRINCESS researchers, care home staff, and study participants worked to enact PRINCESS research activities.

The findings will inform the interpretation of the main study findings and also provide important information for those conducting research (including randomised controlled trials) in the care home context with practical recommendations and potential models of working with and within care homes. More specifically, the qualitative data will: provide a better understanding of the quantitative results, including reasons for missing data, and information about adherence to the study product; provide rich detail regarding how the PRINCESS consultee model of recruitment worked in practice; and what were the means (or barriers) by which PRINCESS researchers were able to recruit a representative cross section of those living in the care home.

16.2 Aims

The overall aim of the study is to understand how the PRINCESS study was carried out within the care home context and identify the mechanisms which affected implementation of study activities.

16.3 Objectives

The following objectives aim to be achieved:

- 1. Obtain research professionals' perspectives on the PRINCESS study, and gain an understanding of how they conducted the PRINCESS research activities within the care home.
- 2. Obtain care home staff perspectives on PRINCESS and the research activities associated with the study.
- 3. Obtain resident and consultee perspectives on PRINCESS and the research activities associated with the study.
- 4. Gain an understanding of the mechanisms which facilitated (or limited) conducting research activities in the care home.
- 5. Understand and gather contextual information that can assist the implementation of future research studies (including randomised controlled trials) with older people in care homes, a vastly under-researched setting.

16.4 Methods

Design

Face-to-face or telephone semi-structured, qualitative interviews will be conducted with eligible participants - these are expected to take around 30 minutes. A topic guide will be developed which will be informed by relevant literature, and it will be piloted to ensure the interviews collect relevant data. Aspects of the research process of the RCT will be explored, with the aim to elucidate relevant contextual issues, barriers, and facilitators to the implementation of the RCT.

Participant identification

Participation will be limited to those who have already been involved in some capacity in the PRINCESS RCT. Ideally seven participants from each of the following groups will be interviewed:

- 1. PRINCESS RCT participants (care home residents) and family members/friends who a) acted as consultees for PRINCESS RCT participants who lacked capacity to provide informed consent or b) experienced/observed their relative/friend's participation in the PRINCESS RCT;
- 2. Managers of participating PRINCESS RCT care homes;
- 3. Care home staff that contributed to the research activities in the PRINCESS RCT;
- 4. Research professionals who conducted the research activities in the PRINCESS RCT.

Recruitment

The recruitment strategy will vary according to the potential participant group. Those within the care home environment (managers, staff, consultees and residents) will be 'snowball sampled'; i.e. managers will be approached initially. Managers can then approach staff, who in turn will then approach residents and consultees (47).

Consent

All participants will be provided with an information sheet for the sub-study, and have the opportunity to ask questions and receive satisfactory responses, prior to the lead researcher seeking informed consent. Written informed consent will be obtained using a study-specific consent form prior to any data collection. A copy of the consent form will be provided to the participant, and the original retained by the lead researcher.

Participants will be informed that they are able to withdraw from the sub-study, should they wish to do so, by contacting the lead researcher. Data from participants who have withdrawn will not be used in the analysis. Participants are able to request to withdraw from the sub-study at any point, up until analysis is concluded.

Analysis

The interviews will be digitally audio-recorded with consent and transcribed verbatim. All transcripts will be deidentified, and along with the source data will be stored confidentially on password protected servers maintained on the Cardiff University Network.

Data will be entered into Qualitative Data Analysis software (NVivo 11, QRS International) and iteratively coded using codes emerging from the data, and those identified *a priori*. Data will be analysed using framework analysis.

17 Statistical considerations

17.1 Randomisation

Participants will be individually randomised in a 1:1 ratio using minimisation. In order to achieve a balance of probiotic and placebo allocations within care homes, the care home from which a participant is recruited and gender of participant will be used as a minimisation variable. A random element, set at 80%, will be used in order to maintain the integrity of the minimisation process. The participants, treating clinicians, trial statistician and research nurses will remain unaware of the group to which participants are allocated during the trial. Pack IDs will be assigned probiotic / placebo allocations using randomly permuted blocks, and this list will be uploaded into the online system. This process will be carried out by a statistician independent of the trial team.

For more details, please consult the PRINCESS randomisation protocol.

17.2 Sample size

Primary Outcome

The original target for the PRINCESS trial was to randomise 330 participants from around 20 care homes in Wales and England. This would provide 90% power at the 5% level to demonstrate a 10% relative reduction in cumulative antibiotic administration days (CAAD) (assuming an average CAAD of 17.4 days and an absolute reduction in the probiotic arm to 15.6 days per resident-year). We consider that a 10% reduction is feasible and would be clinically important.

This sample size accounted for 30% of participants being lost to follow-up due to withdrawal or death during the study.

An interim assessment of primary outcome ascertainment revealed that the mean percentage of days for which there are valid antibiotic administration data (i.e. either no antibiotics administered, or the number of days antibiotics have been administered in a given week) is 77.4%, or 283 days out of a possible 365 on average. This percentage varies depending on the length of time participants have been in the study. However, it remains high for participants who have been in the study for over sixmonths, and does not take into account other data sources that might be used (e.g. hospital discharge summaries, medication administration records, etc.). This is likely to therefore reflect an underestimate of the availability of primary outcome data, but nevertheless is a more accurate reflection of the likely level of follow-up when compared to our original assumption.

Given slower than anticipated recruitment, and this new information regarding the trade-off between the number of participants required and average length of follow-up, we will aim to randomise between 258 and 270 participants. Assuming a mean number of days for which primary outcome data will be available (i.e. accounting for follow-up time and missing data) of approximately 250 days, this will provide at least 82% power to detect a 10% relative reduction in CAAD.

Secondary Mechanistic Outcomes

Previous research has found a 40% prevalence of multi-drug resistant *E. coli* in faecal samples of UK nursing home residents (3) and a 37% prevalence of oral candida in hospitalised elderly patients (48). A meta-analysis of 6 trials of probiotics in critically ill patients reported probiotics reduced colonisation with multi-drug resistant gram negatives (OR 0.39 (95% CI: 0.16 to 0.95) (13). Despite high prevalence of AMR colonisation in CHR few studies have measured the effect of probiotics on this outcome. Hatakka et al (2006) found probiotics reduced the risk of oral candida in 276 older people by 75% (OR = 0.25, 95%CI 0.10- 0.65) (49). Stool and saliva samples at 6 to 12 months will provide 90% power at the 5% level to detect a 19% absolute reduction antimicrobial resistant bacteria and oral candida, assuming a 30% drop-out rate.

18 Analysis

18.1 Main analysis

The primary analysis will be by intention-to-treat, and will consist of a between-group comparison of the mean cumulative antibiotic administration days (CAAD) using Poisson regression. As the randomisation will be stratified by care home, the regression model will control for the care home a participant was recruited from. Negative binomial regression will be used in the presence of overdispersed count data.

For secondary outcomes, depending on the type of data, a mixture of Poisson, linear, logistic and Cox models will be used to appropriately compare trial arms with respect to rates, means, proportions and time to events (see table below for more details).

Adherence-adjusted analysis

While our primary analyses will be conducted using the intention-to-treat principle (i.e. a comparison of groups as randomised regardless of what happens after randomisation), we will monitor adherence to study product throughout the trial. Using this data, we will perform adherence-adjusted analyses, deriving estimates of treatment efficacy that maintain a comparison of groups as randomised, using structural mean models (50). A definition of adherence to study product will be defined prior to the commencement of any statistical analysis.

Missing data assumptions and adjustments

Given our proposed intensive monitoring schedule, missing data is likely to be minimal for participants who remain in the trial for the full duration. Where missing data is likely to occur, it will most likely be due to participant drop-out, with reasons for dropout falling into two broad categories, withdrawal from the trial and death.

Where responses are missing due to drop-out, these will be assumed to be missing at random given observed data, and appropriate modelling techniques will be used (e.g. likelihood-based methods or multiple imputation). Sensitivity analyses will be conducted using joint modelling approaches (e.g. selection and/or pattern mixture models) to explore departures from the missing at random assumption (51).

We will also explore stratifying deaths into two groups: death during an infection and death from any other cause. We will then investigate applying a missing at random-valid modelling approach to the deaths from any other cause and take a more extreme approach with those that died during an infection (e.g. assume that they would have remained on antibiotics for the remainder of the follow-up period).

Similarly, we will explore stratifying drop-out due to residents moving to another care facility into two groups: those who move for health-related reasons (e.g. from a residential home to a care home providing nursing care) and those who move for other reasons. A missing at random-valid modelling approach will be applied to the latter strata, with a more extreme approach taken for those dropping out due to moving from the care home for health-related reasons as this represents a decline in health, which may also be subject to unmeasured selection bias.

Analysis for mechanistic process

Further statistical modelling will explore the causal mechanisms by which the probiotic may have an effect. Mediation analyses will explore the effect of exposure to probiotics on CAAD and cumulative number of infection days, and this is mediated through an effect on antimicrobial resistance. These analyses will be performed using G-computation (52, 53).

18.2 Description of outcomes and method of statistical analysis

Outcome	Main analysis	Sensitivity analyses*
Primary		
Cumulative antibiotic administration days (CAAD)	Poisson regression.	Negative binomial regression (if Poisson over-dispersed).
Secondary		
CAAD by infection (UTI, RTI, skin, GI, unexplained fever)	Poisson regression, with trial arm interacted with infection.	Negative binomial regression (if Poisson over-dispersed).
Incidence of infection	Poisson regression.	Negative binomial regression (if Poisson over-dispersed).
Site of infection	Poisson regression, with trial arm interacted with infection.	Negative binomial regression (if Poisson over-dispersed).
Mean duration of infection	A two-level Cox PH (frailty) model with infections nested within participants.	
Cumulative number of infection days	Poisson regression.	Negative binomial regression (if Poisson over-dispersed).
Antibiotic-associated diarrhoea Incidence and duration	Poisson regression.	Negative binomial regression (if Poisson over-dispersed).
All- cause diarrhoea (incidence and cumulative days)	Poisson regression.	Negative binomial regression (if Poisson over-dispersed)
Mean duration of diarrhoea episodes	A two-level Cox PH (frailty) model with infections nested within participants.	
Secondary – Health Utility		
Health utility (EQ5D)	Two linear regressions (EQ5D at 3/12 months separately) controlling for baseline EQ5D.	Transformations for normality.
Well-being (ICECAP-O)	Two linear regressions (ICECAP-O at 3/12 months separately) controlling for baseline ICECAP-O.	Transformations for normality.
Hospital stays	Logistic regression.	Poisson/negative binomial regression of counts (mean rate of hospital stays).
Death	Logistic regression.	Cox PH model for time from randomisation to death.
Secondary - Antimicrobial		

Resistance		
Presence of Gram-negative isolates in stools	Two logistic regression (stool sample finding at 3/12 months separately) controlling for baseline stool sample finding.	
Vancomycin resistant enterococci in stools	Two logistic regressions (stool sample finding at 3/12 months separately) controlling for baseline stool sample finding.	
Secondary - Mechanistic		
Immune parameters -Immune cell phenotypes -TLR ligand stimulated cytokines/chem -Plasma cytokines/chemokines -Monocyte and neutrophil phagocytosis -Flu vaccine response	Linear regression.	Transformation for normality.
<i>Clostridium difficile</i> in stools	Two logistic regressions (stool sample finding at 3/12 months separately) controlling for baseline stool sample finding.	
Presence of oral candidiasis	Two logistic regressions (response at 3/12 months separately) controlling for baseline response.	
Amount of oral candidiasis present in saliva	Two ordinal regressions (response at 3/12 months separately) controlling for baseline response.	
<i>L. rhamnosus</i> GG in stools	Two linear regressions (stool sample finding at 3/12 months separately) controlling for baseline stool sample finding.	Transformations for normality.
Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis (BB-12)	Two linear regressions (stool sample finding at 3/12 months separately) controlling for baseline stool sample finding.	Transformations for normality.
Full blood count	Linear regression	Transformations for normality.
Flu vaccine response - titer	Linear regression	Transformations for normality.
Flu vaccine response - seroconversion and seroprotection	Logistic regression	

* All sensitivity analyses will include a consideration of adherence to study product and the impact of missing data / deaths.

18.3 Data storage & retention

Access to Data

Direct access to trial data will be granted to authorised representatives from the sponsor or host institution for monitoring and/or audit of the trial to ensure compliance with regulations. This access, the reason for it and who has authorised it will be recorded by the trial team and reported to the DMC. Only authorised members of the PRINCESS research team will have access to the PRINCESS trial data in order to carry out their assigned trial role. Who has access, what level or access and for what purpose will be recorded in the trial Data Management Plan. All data will be kept for 15 years in line with Cardiff University's Regulations for clinical research. This data will be stored confidentially on password protected servers maintained on the Cardiff University Network.

Data Recording and Record Keeping

A trial specific Data Management Plan (DMP) will be developed for the PRINCESS trial outlining in detail the trial specific procedures that will be put in place to ensure that high quality data are produced for statistical analysis. All data recorded onto paper Case Report Forms (CRFs) or other paper data sources will be returned to the trial team and a copy will be held at the research site. Upon receipt all CRFs or other paper documentation containing clinical data will be date stamped and tracked until archiving. A full pre-entry review and electronic data validation for all data entered into the clinical database will be provided by trial specific programmed checks. Prior to database lock, a dataset review will be undertaken by the Data Manager and the Trial Statistician. An independent review of the quality of the data being produced will also be provided by the IDMC throughout the trial.

19 Trial closure

The end of trial is the date of the last data capture and once all pre-specified efficacy laboratory analyses have been completed.

20 Regulatory issues

20.1 Ethical and research governance approval

The study will be conducted in accordance with the recommendations for physicians involved in research on human participants adopted by the 18th World Medical Assembly, Helsinki 1964 as amended.

The protocol, informed consent form, participant information sheets, consultee declaration form, consultee information sheet and any proposed advertising material will be submitted for written approval to an appropriate Research Ethics Committee (REC); host institution(s); and for Research governance approval, prior to any trial procedures taking place. The Health Research Authority guidance on consent and participant information sheets will be followed as appropriate. The Chief Investigator (CI) or delegate will submit and, where necessary, obtain approval from the above parties for all substantial amendments to the original approved documents.

20.2 Consent

The PRINCESS trial will recruit participants both with capacity and those lacking capacity to provide informed consent. We anticipate that some care home residents may lose capacity during the course of the trial either temporarily or permanently and will make appropriate provision. Specific consent will be sought at trial entry for CHR to remain in the trial should capacity be lost during the trial and where CHR regain capacity, consent will be subsequently obtained. The CI will ensure that the consent process adheres to the Mental Capacity Act, 2005 as appropriate.

Full study specific training will be available to all care home staff. Only care home staff who have untaken the appropriate training for their trial role will take responsibility for taking informed consent or other trial procedures. The staff along with their trial role will be recorded in the trial delegation log and authorised by the CI and care home representative. The type of training needed and how it will be recorded will be noted as a trial specific risk and reviewed as part of the risk assessment process.

20.3 Risks and benefits

Due to this being a randomised placebo controlled trial, half of the participants have no chance of benefit from the trial intervention. All participants (or their consultee), however, may value contributing to the advancement of medical knowledge and appreciate the increased assessments and monitoring. Probiotics are classed as a food supplement (and this has been confirmed by the MHRA for this trial) and there are very few side effects (mainly bloating and flatulence if these occur). Probiotics carry theoretical risks including infection beyond the gut, and transfer of antibiotic resistant genes. However, so far, there have been no reports of bacteraemia or fungaemia attributable to the probiotics in trials included in the systematic reviews and mild to moderate gastrointestinal side effects and rash are generally no more common than in patients on placebo probiotic.

For participants receiving the probiotic, reducing the possibility of developing an infection that may require treatment with an antibiotic, we believe, outweighs the risk of the potential side effects. If our hypothesis is correct and probiotics reduce antibiotic prescribing for CHR, this may also reduce the number of antibiotics prescribed for other CHR and subsequent AMR. For all participants, the high level of monitoring for common infectious diseases may result in better-targeted treatment and added vigilance in general.

Residents lacking capacity will be included in the trial as our previous PAAD observational study data demonstrated that those who lack capacity are frailer and receive antibiotics more often and for different indications than those with capacity and, therefore, may be more likely to benefit from interventions aimed at stimulating and supporting the immune system. Interventions should be evaluated in populations for whom the intervention is intended, especially when there are relevant material differences (e.g. in frailty and in immune function).

20.4 Confidentiality

The CI will ensure all trial staff are fully trained and adhere to the principles of Good Clinical Practice (GCP) and the Data Protection Act, 1998. Patients will only be identified on trial documents by use of a unique trial ID which cannot be used to identify individual participants. The research team will store all CRFs and other trial data documents securely at the coordinating centre prior to data entry. CRFs

and all other documents holding patient identifiable information will be anonymised as soon as possible with the process of management being outlined in detail within the ethics application and in the Data Management Plan.

20.5 Indemnity

Cardiff University will provide indemnity and compensation in the event of a claim by, or on behalf of participants, for negligent harm as a result of the study design and/or in respect of the protocol authors/research team. Cardiff University does not provide compensation for non-negligent harm.

All participants will be recruited at Care Homes. Care Homes will arrange insurance cover for any harm to participants caused by the negligence of the Care Home.

20.6 Trial sponsorship

Cardiff University will act as sponsor for trial. Delegated responsibilities will be assigned to SEWTU, PCCTU and to the care homes taking part in this study.

20.7 Funding

The trial will be funded by Medical Research Council's Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation Programme administered by the National Institute for Health Research by means of a research grant to the Nuffield Department of Primary Care Health Sciences. The research funding will be administered by the University of Oxford. The study product (probiotic/placebo) will be provided by CHR Hansen free of charge.

20.8 Audits & inspections

The trial is participant to inspection by National Institute for Health Research Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation as the funding organisation. The trial may also be participant to inspection and audit by Cardiff University under their remit as sponsor.

21 Trial management

The Trial Management Group will be led by the Chief Investigator and will take responsibility for the on-going management of the PRINCESS trial. Members will be required to sign up to the remit and conditions as set out in the TMG Charter.

22 Data monitoring & quality assurance

The UKCRC accredited South East Wales Trials Unit (SEWTU) will have fully responsibility for all aspects of the PRINCESS trial. SEWTU will work closely with the Primary Care Clinical Trials Unit (PC-CTU) on all matters relating to the trial design and delivery. A formal division of responsibilities will be drafted between SEWTU and PC-CTU detailing which standard operating procedures will be followed when completing each controlled process. SEWTUS Quality Assurance Team will review these arrangements as appropriate to ensure compliance with the relevant regulations and any Sponsor requirements.

22.1 TSC (Trial Steering Committee)

An independent Trial Steering Committee (TSC) will be established to provide oversight of the PRINCESS trial. The TSC will include at least an independent chairperson, two independent members and a patient representative. The TSC will review the progress of the trial on a regular basis and provide advice to the TMG. Representatives of the Sponsor and the Funder will be invited to attend all meetings. Members will be required to sign up to the remit and conditions as set out in the TSC Charter.

22.2 IDMC (Independent Data Monitoring Committee)

An independent Data Monitoring Committee (DMC) will be established to provide oversight of all matters relating to patient safety and data quality. The DMC will be asked to convene at least annually and provide advice to the TSC. Members will be required to sign up to the remit and conditions as set out in the DMC Charter.

23 Publication policy

All publications and presentations relating to the trial will be authorised by the Trial Management Group and will follow the PRINCESS publication policy. The trial protocol will be published and the trial registered with the ISRCTN. The trial results will be published and all who meet the criteria for authorship will be listed as authors. Authorship will be determined in accordance with the ICMJE guidelines and other contributors will be acknowledged. The results will be presented to the DMC prior to publication. Papers will be shared with the funders prior to submission. Funders will have 14 days in which to respond and to bring any matters of factual accuracy relating to the intervention to the attention of the trial team. The funders will have no role in decisions on publication. The funding source and other support will be acknowledged.

23.1 Feedback to participants and other stakeholders

Participants, care home staff and associated GPs will receive summaries of the trial findings and they will be made available to the general public via the trial website. The PPI representatives will be asked for their assistance in ensuring the material prepared for the care home residents and general public is comprehensive and appropriate.

24 References

1. Bonomo RA. Multiple antibiotic-resistant bacteria in long-term-care facilities: An emerging problem in the practice of infectious diseases. Clin Infect Dis. 2000;31(6):1414-22.

2. Hood K, Nuttall J, Gillespie D, Shepherd V, Wood F, Duncan D, et al. Probiotics for Antibiotic-Associated Diarrhoea (PAAD): a prospective observational study of antibiotic-associated diarrhoea (including Clostridium difficile-associated diarrhoea) in care homes. Health Technol Assess. 2014;18(63):1-84.

3. Rooney PJ, O'Leary MC, Loughrey AC, McCalmont M, Smyth B, Donaghy P, et al. Nursing homes as a reservoir of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase (ESBL)-producing ciprofloxacin-resistant Escherichia coli. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2009;64(3):635-41.

4. Hao Q, Lu Z, Dong BR, Huang CQ, Wu T. Probiotics for preventing acute upper respiratory tract infections. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2011(9):CD006895.

5. Hempel S, Newberry SJ, Maher AR, Wang Z, Miles JN, Shanman R, et al. Probiotics for the prevention and treatment of antibiotic-associated diarrhea: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Jama. 2012;307(18):1959-69.

6. Guillemard E, Tanguy J, Flavigny A, de la Motte S, Schrezenmeir J. Effects of consumption of a fermented dairy product containing the probiotic Lactobacillus casei DN-114 001 on common respiratory and gastrointestinal infections in shift workers in a randomized controlled trial. J Am Coll Nutr. 2010;29(5):455-68.

7. Boge T, Remigy M, Vaudaine S, Tanguy J, Bourdet-Sicard R, van der Werf S. A probiotic fermented dairy drink improves antibody response to influenza vaccination in the elderly in two randomised controlled trials. Vaccine. 2009;27(41):5677-84.

8. Van Puyenbroeck K, Hens N, Coenen S, Michiels B, Beunckens C, Molenberghs G, et al. Efficacy of daily intake of Lactobacillus casei Shirota on respiratory symptoms and influenza vaccination immune response: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial in healthy elderly nursing home residents. Am J Clin Nutr. 2012;95(5):1165-71.

9. McFarland LV. Evidence-based review of probiotics for antibiotic-associated diarrhea and Clostridium difficile infections. Anaerobe. 2009;15(6):274-80.

10. Hempel S, Newberry S, Ruelaz A, Wang Z, Miles JN, Suttorp MJ, et al. Safety of probiotics used to reduce risk and prevent or treat disease. Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep). 2011(200):1-645.

11. Carlsson M, Gustafson Y, Haglin L, Eriksson S. The feasibility of serving liquid yoghurt supplemented with probiotic bacteria, Lactobacillus rhamnosus LB 21, and Lactococcus lactis L1A--a pilot study among old people with dementia in a residential care facility. J Nutr Health Aging. 2009;13(9):813-9.

12. Beerepoot MA, ter Riet G, Nys S, van der Wal WM, de Borgie CA, de Reijke TM, et al. Lactobacilli vs antibiotics to prevent urinary tract infections: a randomized, double-blind, noninferiority trial in postmenopausal women. Arch Intern Med. 2012;172(9):704-12.

13. Zaky A. Interventions to prevent the acquisition of resistant Gram-negative bacteria in critically ill patients- A systematic review and meta-analysis [Master's]: University of Washington; 2012.

14. Manley KJ, Fraenkel MB, Mayall BC, Power DA. Probiotic treatment of vancomycin-resistant enterococci: a randomised controlled trial. Med J Aust. 2007;186(9):454-7.

15. Turchet P, Laurenzano M, Auboiron S, Antoine JM. Effect of fermented milk containing the probiotic Lactobacillus casei DN-114001 on winter infections in free-living elderly subjects: a randomised, controlled pilot study. J Nutr Health Aging. 2003;7(2):75-7.

16. Makino S, Ikegami S, Kume A, Horiuchi H, Sasaki H, Orii N. Reducing the risk of infection in the elderly by dietary intake of yoghurt fermented with Lactobacillus delbrueckii ssp. bulgaricus OLL1073R-1. Br J Nutr. 2010;104(7):998-1006.

17. Koch AM, Eriksen HM, Elstrom P, Aavitsland P, Harthug S. Severe consequences of healthcareassociated infections among residents of nursing homes: a cohort study. J Hosp Infect. 2009;71(3):269-74.

18. Graham JE, Christian LM, Kiecolt-Glaser JK. Stress, age, and immune function: toward a lifespan approach. J Behav Med. 2006;29(4):389-400.

19. Butler CC, Duncan D, Hood K. Does taking probiotics routinely with antibiotics prevent antibiotic associated diarrhoea? Bmj. 2012;344:e682.

20. Statistics Of N. Changes in the Older Resident Care Home Population between 2001 and 2011. UK: 2014 01 August 2014. Report No.

21. Lingard L. Health Needs Assessment of the Residents of Nursing Homes in South Tyneside Executive Summary 2011 January 2011. Report No.

22. Costelloe C, Metcalfe C, Lovering A, Mant D, Hay AD. Effect of antibiotic prescribing in primary care on antimicrobial resistance in individual patients: systematic review and meta-analysis. Bmj. 2010;340:c2096.

23. Butler CC, Hillier S, Roberts Z, Dunstan F, Howard A, Palmer S. Antibiotic-resistant infections in primary care are symptomatic for longer and increase workload: outcomes for patients with E. coli UTIs. Br J Gen Pract. 2006;56(530):686-92.

24. Heginbothom MH, Robin Antibacterial Resistance In Wales 2005-2013. Public Health Wales, 2014 18/11/2014. Report No.

25. Lasseter G, Charlett A, Lewis D, Donald I, Howell-Jones R, McNulty CA. Staphylococcus aureus carriage in care homes: identification of risk factors, including the role of dementia. Epidemiol Infect. 2010;138(5):686-96.

26. Moro-Garcia MA, Alonso-Arias R, Baltadjieva M, Fernandez Benitez C, Fernandez Barrial MA, Diaz Ruisanchez E, et al. Oral supplementation with Lactobacillus delbrueckii subsp. bulgaricus 8481 enhances systemic immunity in elderly subjects. Age (Dordr). 2013;35(4):1311-26.

27. Snydman DR. The safety of probiotics. Clin Infect Dis. 2008;46 Suppl 2:S104-11; discussion S44-51.

28. Liu S, Hu P, Du X, Zhou T, Pei X. Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG supplementation for preventing respiratory infections in children: a meta-analysis of randomized, placebo-controlled trials. Indian Pediatr. 2013;50(4):377-81.

29. Hojsak I, Abdovic S, Szajewska H, Milosevic M, Krznaric Z, Kolacek S. Lactobacillus GG in the prevention of nosocomial gastrointestinal and respiratory tract infections. Pediatrics. 2010;125(5):e1171-7.

30. Hojsak I, Snovak N, Abdovic S, Szajewska H, Misak Z, Kolacek S. Lactobacillus GG in the prevention of gastrointestinal and respiratory tract infections in children who attend day care centers: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Clin Nutr. 2010;29(3):312-6.

31. Davidson LE, Fiorino AM, Snydman DR, Hibberd PL. Lactobacillus GG as an immune adjuvant for live-attenuated influenza vaccine in healthy adults: a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2011;65(4):501-7.

32. Toiviainen A, Jalasvuori H, Lahti E, Gursoy U, Salminen S, Fontana M, et al. Impact of orally administered lozenges with Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG and Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis BB-12 on the number of salivary mutans streptococci, amount of plaque, gingival inflammation and the oral microbiome in healthy adults. Clin Oral Investig. 2015;19(1):77-83.

33. Liu PT, Krutzik SR, Modlin RL. Therapeutic implications of the TLR and VDR partnership. Trends Mol Med. 2007;13(3):117-24.

34. Ly NP, Litonjua A, Gold DR, Celedon JC. Gut microbiota, probiotics, and vitamin D: interrelated exposures influencing allergy, asthma, and obesity? J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2011;127(5):1087-94; quiz 95-6.

35. Smith TJ, Rigassio-Radler D, Denmark R, Haley T, Touger-Decker R. Effect of Lactobacillus rhamnosus LGG(R) and Bifidobacterium animalis ssp. lactis BB-12(R) on health-related quality of life in college students affected by upper respiratory infections. Br J Nutr. 2013;109(11):1999-2007.

36. Savard P, Lamarche B, Paradis ME, Thiboutot H, Laurin E, Roy D. Impact of Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis BB-12 and, Lactobacillus acidophilus LA-5-containing yoghurt, on fecal bacterial counts of healthy adults. Int J Food Microbiol. 2011;149(1):50-7.

Taipale T, Pienihakkinen K, Isolauri E, Larsen C, Brockmann E, Alanen P, et al. Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis BB-12 in reducing the risk of infections in infancy. Br J Nutr. 2011;105(3):409-16.
Rautava S, Salminen S, Isolauri E. Specific probiotics in reducing the risk of acute infections in infancy--a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Br J Nutr. 2009;101(11):1722-6.

39. Kajander K, Myllyluoma E, Rajilic-Stojanovic M, Kyronpalo S, Rasmussen M, Jarvenpaa S, et al. Clinical trial: multispecies probiotic supplementation alleviates the symptoms of irritable bowel syndrome and stabilizes intestinal microbiota. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2008;27(1):48-57.

40. Pitkala KH, Strandberg TE, Finne Soveri UH, Ouwehand AC, Poussa T, Salminen S. Fermented cereal with specific bifidobacteria normalizes bowel movements in elderly nursing home residents. A randomized, controlled trial. J Nutr Health Aging. 2007;11(4):305-11.

41. Kabayashi TMHMSYRNHKMKTKO. Safety and effect of yoghurt containing Bifidobacterium lactis BB-12[®] on improvement of defecation and faecal microflora in healthy volunteers. Journal of Nutritional Food. 2006; 9:15-26.

42. Guardian OotP. Mental Capacity Act Code of Practice In: Guardian OotP, editor. 2014.

43. Doron S, Snydman DR. Risk and safety of probiotics. Clin Infect Dis. 2015;60 Suppl 2:S129-34.

44. Shepherd V. Research involving adults lacking capacity to consent: the impact of research regulation on 'evidence biased' medicine. BMC Med Ethics. 2016;17(1):55.

45. Shepherd V, Nuttall J, Hood K, Butler CC. Setting up a clinical trial in care homes: challenges encountered and recommendations for future research practice. BMC Res Notes. 2015;8:306.

46. Wood F, Prout H, Bayer A, Duncan D, Nuttall J, Hood K, et al. Consent, including advanced consent, of older adults to research in care homes: a qualitative study of stakeholders' views in South Wales. Trials. 2013;14:247.

47. Biernacki P, Waldorf D. Snowball Sampling: Problems and Techniques of Chain Referral Sampling. Sociological Methods & Research. 1981;10(2):141-63.

48. Paillaud E, Merlier I, Dupeyron C, Scherman E, Poupon J, Bories PN. Oral candidiasis and nutritional deficiencies in elderly hospitalised patients. Br J Nutr. 2004;92(5):861-7.

49. Hatakka K, Ahola AJ, Yli-Knuuttila H, Richardson M, Poussa T, Meurman JH, et al. Probiotics reduce the prevalence of oral candida in the elderly--a randomized controlled trial. J Dent Res. 2007;86(2):125-30.

50. Vansteelandt S, Ghent University B, Goetghebeur E, Ghent University B. Causal inference with generalized structural mean models. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Statistical Methodology). 2014;65(4):817-35.

51. Geert Molenberghs MK. Missing Data in Clinical Studies2007 March 2007. 526 p.

52. Robins JM, Hernan MA. Estimation of the causal effects of time-varying exposures. Longitudinal Data Analysis. New York: Chapman and Hall/CRC Press; 2009. p. 553-99.

53. Daniel RM, De Stavola BL, Cousens SN. "gformula: Estimating causal effects in the presence of time-varying confounding or mediation using the g-computation formula.". Stata Journal. 2011;11(4):479.

25 Schedule of Study Procedures

		1			1			
Assessment			for s)	s)	a a a	Q 4		'n
	e	s)	r ils (f	ly (f	flu, flu, tion	nate flu, 28 rds	*	follo
	selir	ce C r 12 nth	gula erva moi	moi	accir accir inst inst of cina cina sible	accir inst eks (s) erwa	iont	o uq
	Bas	u Ĝ	Re into 12	12 12	If v, aga day vac vac as c as c as c	If va aga we day afte	3 m	Sec up*
Assessment of eligibility	Х							
Informed consent or	Х							
consultee declaration"								
Demographic data	Х							
Brief clinical history	Х							
Clinical Frailty Score	Х							
CAAD for infection			Х				Х	X (from MAR and
								hospital record, if
								applicable)
Infection details			X				X	X
Oral rinse or saliva culture"	Х						х	Х
for oral candida	v							
Vitamin D	X							
Plead cample"A for corum	v							v
sytekings (ox vivo rosponso)	^							A plus EBC blood
$(n \approx 100)$								sample
Blood sample"^ (influenza					x	x		Sumple
vaccine efficacy)					~	X		
Stool sample" ⁺ (<i>C.diff</i> .	х						х	Х
antibiotic sensitivity of gram								
–ve enterobacteria and VRE,								
gut microbiota diversity or								
phylotype)								
EQ-5D" (participant and/or	Х						Х	Х
proxy completion)								
ICECAP-O" (participant	Х						Х	Х
and/or proxy completion)								
NHS service use (Care Home			Х					Х
note review)								()
NHS service use (Hospital								(X)
discharge summaries)								X
Nortality	v							X
Study product pack	~	-		v				
				~				
Study Product administration		v						
Adherence to Study Product			x					
(MAR sheet)		sheet	(transcri					
		completion	be to					
		as often as	CRF)					
		practicable)	,					
Adherence to study product		, í		Х				
(capsule count)								

Key

" requires participant or consultee/proxy involvement

(X) if applicable

⁺ Sample to be collected by Care Home staff

^ Sample to be taken by Research Nurse

Follow-up time windows: 3 month: 3 months -2/+4 weeks 12 month: 11 months +/- 1 month

* The follow-up schedule will depend on the length of time that a participant has been in the study. Where possible, participants will have a baseline assessment, and three- and 12-month follow-ups. Due to time limitations, some participants may have a truncated follow-up and will receive either a baseline assessment and 3-month follow-up, or a baseline assessment, 3-month

follow-up and a second follow-up between 6-10 months post-randomisation. Infection, antibiotic use, adverse events and study product use is also recorded at regular intervals by the RN from care home notes for 12 months post-randomisation or until 31/10/2018, whichever is sooner

26 Appendix 1

The PRINCESS qualitative interview study: understanding how a randomised controlled trial of probiotics was conducted in care homes

Contents

Page no.

		-
TABLE	OF ABBREVIATIONS	. 54
KEY ST	UDY CONTACTS	. 55
STUDY	SUMMARY	. 55
STUDY	FLOW CHART	. 56
1.	BACKGROUND	. 57
2.	RESEARCH QUESTION/AIM(S) AND OBJECTIVES	. 58
3.	STUDY DESIGN and METHODS of DATA COLLECTION AND DATA ANALYSIS	. 58
4.	STUDY SETTING	. 59
5.	PARTICIPANT SAMPLING	. 59
6.	PARTICIPANT RECRUITMENT	. 60
7.	ETHICAL AND REGULATORY CONSIDERATIONS	. 61
8.	DISSEMINIATION POLICY	. 62
9.	REFERENCES	. 63

TABLE OF ABBREVIATIONS

CTR	Medicines for Human Use (Clinical Trials) Regulations 2004
ENRICH	National Institute Health Research 'ENabling Research In Care Homes'
GCP	Good Clinical Practice
GDPR	General Data Protection Regulation, 2016
ICH GCP	Internationals Conference on Harmonisation Guideline for Good Clinical Practice
MCA	Mental Capacity Act 2005
PIS	Participant information sheet
PRINCESS	Probiotics to Reduce Infections iN CarE home reSidentS
RA	Risk Assessment
RCT	Randomised controlled trial
REC	Research Ethics Committee
SOP	Standard Operating Procedures

KEY STUDY CONTACTS

Lead researcher	Helen Stanton
	Centre for Trials Research
	College of Biomedical & Life Sciences,
	Cardiff University, 7th Floor, Neuadd Meirionnydd,
	Heath Park, Cardiff, CF14 4YS
	029 20687142
Funder(s)	This interview study is funded via the PRINCESS RCT
Key Protocol Contributors	Helen Stanton, Victoria Shepherd, Dr Eleri Owen-Jones, Dr Jane Davies, Dr Rachel Lowe, Alison Edwards

STUDY SUMMARY

Study Title	The PRINCESS qualitative interview study: understanding how a randomised controlled trial (RCT) of probiotics was conducted in care homes
Internal ref. no. (or short title)	PRINCESS interview study
Study Design	Face-to-face or telephone semi-structured, qualitative interviews
Study Participants	 PRINCESS RCT participants (care home residents) and family members/friends who a) acted as consultees for PRINCESS RCT participants who lacked capacity to provide informed consent or b) experienced/observed their relative/friend's participation in the PRINCESS RCT Managers of participating PRINCESS RCT care homes Care home staff that contributed to the research activities in the PRINCESS RCT Research professionals who conducted the research activities in the PRINCESS RCT
Planned Size of Sample (if applicable)	25-30 (evenly spread between the above cohorts)
Follow up duration (if applicable)	N/A
Planned Study Period	6 months
Research Question/Aim(s)	To understand how the PRINCESS RCT was carried out within the care home context, and identify the mechanisms which affected implementation of study activities

STUDY FLOW CHART



<u>The PRINCESS qualitative interview study: understanding how a randomised</u> <u>controlled trial of probiotics was conducted in care homes</u>

1. BACKGROUND

The UK population is ageing, and the number of people living in long-term care homes is forecast to increase over the coming decades (54, 55). As such, there is a growing need to ensure that individuals living in care homes are recipients of high quality evidence-based care, where the unique needs of the population are considered (56, 57). However, the regulatory and operational complexities in involving elderly and frail care home residents in clinical research has served as a barrier to the development of research in the care home environment (58, 59).

Research programmes such as the National Institute Health Research Enabling Research in Care Homes (NIHR ENRICH) programme have begun to tackle the inverse relationship between the need for evidence-based approaches to healthcare provision, and the facility in which this evidence can grow. The ENRICH programme provides a 'toolkit' of resources for navigating research with residents, within the care home environment (60). While programmes such as ENRICH provide a route in to care home-based research, navigating the necessary regulatory and governance pathways in this largely research naïve environment can be complicated (59). The challenges of setting up a clinical trial in care homes includes complexities and severe time delays through navigating variations in research governance, difficulty recruiting care homes, and protracted discussions with ethics committees surrounding the inclusion of residents who lack the mental capacity to provide informed consent for themselves (59, 61). The majority of care home residents have some degree of cognitive impairment, and many will lack the decision-making capacity to provide informed consent to take part in research (62-64). As such, all aspects of the research process needs specific consideration in order for the best outcomes to be achieved with regards to involving the care home population in research.

The set-up and the implementation of the PRINCESS trial (Probiotics to Reduce Infections iN CarE home reSidentS) was informed through past experience of other studies undertaken in care homes, as well as research around alternative models of consent (58, 59, 65). The double-blind individually randomised controlled trial of a probiotic used a consent model based on obtaining advice from a consultee for residents who lacked capacity to provide informed consent, in accordance with the Mental Capacity Act 2005 (66). Residents and consultees provided separate consent for stool, saliva, and blood samples (67). The trial sample size allowed for expected attrition rates, and missing data due to hospitalisations (61, 67).

Research professionals (including research nurses) conducted the majority of research activities required to determine the primary and secondary outcomes, which included cumulative antibiotic use, and rates of infections. Despite the complexity and high demands of this randomised controlled trial, 310 residents were recruited and are being followed-up weekly (67) for up to 12 months. The successful implementation of this study deserves further in-depth exploration. This qualitative interview study aims to examine how PRINCESS researchers, care home staff, and study participants worked to enact PRINCESS research activities.

The findings will be used to provide those conducting research (including randomised controlled trials) in the care home context with practical recommendations and potential models of working with and within care homes. Enabling and empowering researchers to undertake research with older people in the care home setting is essential if evidence-based healthcare is to keep up with the changing health and social care demands of an ageing population.

2. RESEARCH QUESTION/AIM(S) AND OBJECTIVES

The overall aim of the study is to understand how the PRINCESS study was carried out within the care home context, and identify the mechanisms which affected implementation of study activities. The following objectives will serve as a framework for the interview topic guides, allowing the study aim to be achieved:

- 1. Obtain research professionals' perspectives on the PRINCESS study, and gain an understanding of how they conducted the PRINCESS research activities within the care home
- 2. Obtain care home staff perspectives on PRINCESS and the research activities associated with the study
- 3. Obtain residents'/consultees'/relatives'/friends' perspectives on PRINCESS and the research activities associated with the study
- 4. Gain an understanding of the mechanisms which facilitated (or limited) conducting research activities in the care home
- 5. Understand and gather contextual information that can assist the implementation of future research studies (including randomised controlled trials) in care homes

3. STUDY DESIGN and METHODS of DATA COLLECTION AND DATA ANALYSIS

Semi-structured interviews will be conducted with eligible participants. The interviews may vary in length, but are expected to take around 30 minutes. A topic guide will be developed which will be informed by relevant literature and discussions with the research team. The topic guide will be piloted to ensure interviews achieve relevant data. The topics will explore various aspects of the research process of the PRINCESS RCT. Interview topics will also aim to elucidate relevant contextual issues, and barriers and facilitators to the implementation of the PRINCESS RCT (68).

The interviews will be digitally audio-recorded with consent, and transcribed verbatim. The transcripts will be checked for accuracy and completeness against the source data. The transcripts will be deidentified using a Participant Identification Number. Transcripts and the original source data (audio file) will be stored confidentially on password protected servers maintained on the Cardiff University Network. All data will be archived securely and kept for no less than end of project + 5 years or at least 2 years post publication in line with Cardiff University's Guidance for Managing Research Records and Data.

Data will be entered into Qualitative Data Analysis software (NVivo 11, QRS International) and iteratively coded using codes emerging from the data, and those identified *a priori*. Data will be analysed using framework analysis. This is a systematic approach to a thematic qualitative analysis that allows for easy comparisons between and within cases, facilitates sharing and discussion of data, and allows for clear linking / access from developed themes to original data (69). Framework analysis involves five stages: 1.) familiarisation with the data; 2.) development of a thematic framework; 3.) applying thematic codes to all of the data (indexing); 4.) retrieving and summarising coded data in a chart; and 5.) interpreting the data by drawing inferences and pulling together relevant themes (70). Framework analysis is particularly useful when there are a number of clear research aims that have guided the questions, while allowing new themes to emerge from the data that are relevant to the research question. Dual coding will be carried out for 10% of the interviews to allow for an assessment of coding validity. NVivo qualitative analysis software will be used to assist coding. A sub-group of the research team with expertise in qualitative analysis will assess themes emerging from the data against the coding framework generated to determine at which point during analysis saturation has been achieved.

4. STUDY SETTING

Participation will be limited to those who have already been involved in some capacity in the PRINCESS RCT, i.e. participation in the PRINCESS RCT itself, acting as a consultee for a resident in the PRINCESS RCT, family members/friends who have experience of the resident's participation in the PRINCESS RCT, involvement in the research activities required to recruit residents, or collecting research data for the PRINCESS RCT.

5. PARTICIPANT SAMPLING

5.1 Participant selection

Sampling will take place at a care home level in order to get an in-depth understanding of how activities were enacted. We plan to interview up to 30 interviewees from across selected care homes. We plan to include research professionals (at least seven), care home managers (at least seven), care home staff who were involved in the PRINCESS RCT (at least seven), and residents and consultees who participated in the study (at least seven). We anticipate that this will be a sufficient number of participants for data saturation to be reached (i.e. where no new themes are emerging from the data) (71).

5.2 Eligibility Criteria

Eligibility will be determined by the lead researcher prior to a potential participant's inclusion in the study. A potential participant will be eligible if they meet all the inclusion criteria. A potential participant will not be eligible if any of the exclusion criteria apply.

5.2.1 Inclusion criteria

• a) A resident who participated in the PRINCESS RCT and retains the mental capacity (under the MCA 2005) to provide informed consent to participate in an interview about the RCT (66)

OR

b) A family member or friend who has acted as a consultee on behalf of an adult who lacks capacity for a decision regarding their participation in the PRINCESS RCT OR

c) A family member or friend who did not act as a consultee on behalf of a resident who participated in the PRINCESS RCT but have first-hand experience of the resident's participation in the PRINCESS RCT.*

OR

d) Care home staff members (including management) who implemented any part of the PRINCESS RCT (e.g. initial set-up of trial, acted as Principal Investigator, recruitment of residents, data collection, sample collection etc.)

OR

e) Research professional who implemented any part of the PRINCESS RCT (e.g. initial setup of trial, recruitment of residents, data collection, sample collection etc.)

• Agree to participate in an interview

5.2.2 Exclusion criteria

- Did not have any involvement in the PRINCESS RCT
- A participating resident of the PRINCESS RCT who has subsequently lost capacity under the MCA 2005 to provide informed consent to take part in an interview

- Are unable to understand English sufficiently to comprehend the study information and conduct an interview in English
- Are unable to communicate verbally to the extent that an interview cannot reasonably be conducted**

*Owing to care home residents' older age, some will have lost mental capacity since taking part in the PRINCESS RCT, or cannot recall participating in the PRINCESS RCT. Some residents may have passed away. Close family members/friends who **volunteer** to take part in an interview because they have experience of the resident's participation in the PRINCESS RCT should be included as their views can generate a more holistic understanding of how the PRINCESS RCT was carried out in care homes, thus improving the generalisability of the interview study results.

**The interviewer will take in to account any needs of the individual that may arise due to agerelated issues, such as hearing loss, and age related changes in verbal communication. The interviewer will make efforts to provide a communication friendly environment in order to facilitate communication with individuals who want to be interviewed. The interviewer will make notes after the interview to document any communicative artefacts that may influence understanding, or future interpretation of the discussion.

6. PARTICIPANT RECRUITMENT

The recruitment strategy will vary according to the potential participant group. Those within the care home environment (managers, staff, consultees and residents) will be 'snowball sampled'; i.e. managers will be approached initially. Managers can then approach staff, who in turn can then approach residents and consultees (72).

6.1 Research professional recruitment:

Research professionals (e.g. research nurses) will be approached by email with a brief summary of the study. The participant information sheet (PIS) will be attached to the email. The email will advise that if they are interested in being interviewed to contact the researcher by telephone or email and the consent form can be sent in the post. If requested, hard copies of the participant information sheet (PIS) and the consent form can be sent with a stamp-addressed envelope. Once the signed consent form has been received a time will be arranged for a telephone interview.

6.2 Recruitment within care home environment:

The care home managers will be approached by email or telephone stating that we are hoping to gather the views and experiences of care home managers, staff, relatives/friends (who may have acted as consultees) and residents around their input on the PRINCESS RCT. A request will be made to the manager (or a delegated colleague) by email or telephone to put up a study poster and add some A6 study poster cards by the visitors book on the front desk and ask them to highlight the interview study to eligible staff/residents/consultees and to contact the researcher (using Helen Stanton's (lead researcher) details on the A6 poster card) if they are interested in taking part.

With the care home manager's (or delegated colleague) permission information packs will be sent to the care home and given to eligible staff/consultees/residents. These will contain a participant information sheet (PIS), contact details form, and consent form*. If the researcher is contacted via email or telephone and the potential participant is happy to be interviewed they will be asked to return the consent form and contact details form (in a stamp addressed envelope) and an interview will be arranged once the researcher has received the documents. Potential participants will be given

a choice of being interviewed face-to-face or on the telephone (depending on the proximity of the care home to the location of the researcher conducting the interviews).

*To aid information accessibility and self-completion of materials, A3 copies of forms with larger print will also be provided. Information on the PIS can also be verbally communicated if requested. In the event that a resident or consultee cannot provide handwritten signatures on the consent, verbal consent will be taken, and documented in the presence of a witness (member of care home staff, family, or friend).

6.3 Consent

All participants will be provided with an information sheet, and have the opportunity to ask questions and receive satisfactory responses, prior to the lead researcher seeking informed consent. Written informed consent will be obtained using a study-specific consent form prior to any data collection. A copy of the consent form will be provided to the participant, and the original retained by the lead researcher.

Participants will be informed that they are able to withdraw from the study, should they wish to do so, by contacting the lead researcher. Data from participants who have withdrawn will not be used in the analysis. Participants are able to request to withdraw from the study at any point, up until analysis is concluded.

7. ETHICAL AND REGULATORY CONSIDERATIONS

The study will be conducted in accordance with ICH GCP requirements, and in accordance with the recommendations for research on human participants adopted by the 18th World Medical Assembly, Helsinki 1964 as amended. The Health Research Authority guidance on consent and participant information sheets will be followed as appropriate. Participants will be provided with sufficient information prior to any decision whether to participate and informed that it is voluntary. Explicit consent for the interview to be audio-recorded will be sought.

Ethical issues raised by the project are anticipated to be limited due to the nature of the project. However, issues that are of concern to the participant may be raised during the interview, and there is the potential for the participant to become upset or distressed during the interview. The researcher has a background in research with older people, and those with chronic conditions, and therefore has experience of conducting interviews with care and sensitivity. In the event of a participant becoming upset or distressed, the interview will be suspended or discontinued as appropriate.

At the end of each interview, the researcher will take time to ensure that participants did not feel distressed by their participation.

7.1 Research Ethics Committee (REC)

The protocol, informed consent form, participant information sheets, and any proposed advertising material will be submitted for written approval to an appropriate Research Ethics Committee (REC) prior to the start of the study taking place. As NHS patients or users of the NHS, or their relatives, will not be involved in the study, ethical approval will be sought from the School of Medicine Research Ethics Committee, Cardiff University. Care home residents who lack capacity to provide informed consent will not be included in the study. Approval will also be sought regarding any amendments to the study.

7.2 Peer review

This interview study is an evaluation of the PRINCESS RCT and has been reviewed by the study team named in this protocol.

7.3 Patient & Public Involvement

The Patient and Public representative who formed part of the PRINCESS RCT trial management group will review and contribute to the interview topic guide and themes.

7.4 Data protection and patient confidentiality

The lead researcher will be fully trained and adhere to the principles of Good Clinical Practice (GCP) and the General Data Protection Regulation, 2016 (GDPR). Potential participants who express interest in being contacted and receiving further information about the study will send their contact details to the lead researcher by returning a contact details form, or contacting the lead researcher by phone or by email. Contact details will be stored electronically in an Excel spreadsheet which will be password protected, kept on the secure Cardiff University network and only accessed by named individuals within the research team as outlined in the delegation log. The research team will store all study data documents securely at Cardiff University. Interview transcripts and all other documents holding participant identifiable information will be anonymised as soon as possible. Participants will only be identified by use of a unique study ID which cannot be used to identify individual participants. Data encryption will be used for all portable media containing participant data.

All data will be kept for no less than end of project + 5 years or at least 2 years post publication in line with Cardiff University's Guidance for Managing Research Records and Data. This data will be stored confidentially on password protected servers maintained on the Cardiff University Network.

7.5 Indemnity

Cardiff University will provide indemnity and compensation in the event of a claim by, or on behalf of participants, for negligent harm as a result of the study design and/or in respect of the protocol authors/research team. Cardiff University does not provide compensation for non-negligent harm.

7.6 Access to the final study dataset

The researchers and administrators involved in the study will have access to the full dataset.

8. DISSEMINIATION POLICY

The study results will be published in peer-reviewed academic journals, and the results presented at conferences, and through other dissemination events or outputs. Participants will receive summaries of the study findings and information about how to access a copy of the full results (e.g. online journal article).

The funding source and other support will be acknowledged.

9. REFERENCES

54. NIHR Dissemination Centre. Advancing Care: Research with care homes. 2017.

55. Office for National Statistics. Population estimates for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland: mid 2017. 2017.

56. Maas M, Kelley L, Park M, Specht J. Issues in Conducting Research in Nursing Homes. Western Journal of Nursing Research. 2002;4(24).

57. Slaughter S, Cole D, Jennings E, Reimer M. Consent and assent to participate in research from people with dementia Nursing Ethics. 2007;1(14).

58. Shepherd V. Research involving adults lacking capacity to consent: the impact of research regulation on 'evidence biased' medicine. BMC Medical Ethics. 2016.

59. Shepherd V, Nuttall J, Hood K, Butler C. Setting up a clinical trial in care homes: challenges encountered and recommendations for future research practice. . BMC Res Notes. 2015;8(306).

60. NIHR. ENRICH: Enabling Research In Care Homes. Available from: <u>https://enrich.nihr.ac.uk/</u>.

61. Lam H, Chow S, Taylor K, Chow R, Lam H, Bonin K, et al. Challenges of conducting research in long-term care facilities: a systematic review. BMC Geriatrics. 2018;18(242).

62. Hood K, Nuttall J, Gillespie D, Shepherd V, Wood F, Duncan D, et al. Probiotics for Antibiotic-Associated Diarrhoea (PAAD): A prospective observational study of antibiotic-associated diarrhoea (including Clostridium difficile-associated diarrhoea) in care homes Health Technology Assessment. 2014;14.

63. Zermansky A, Alldred D, Petty D, Raynor D. Striving to recruit: the difficulties of conducting clinical research on elderly care home residents. J R Soc Med 2007;6(100).

64. Ersek M, Polissar N, Pen A, Jablonski A, Herr K, Neradilek M. Addressing methodological challenges in implementing the nursing home pain management algorithm randomized controlled trial. . Clin Trials 2012;5(9).

65. Wood F, Prout H, Bayer A, Duncan D, Nuttall J, K H. Consent, including advanced consent, of older adults to research in care homes: a qualitative study of stakeholders' views in South Wales. Trials. 2013;14(247).

66. Mental Capacity Act 2005, (2005).

67. Owen-Jones E, Lowe R, Lown M, Gillespie D, Addision K, Bayer A, et al. Protocol for a doubleblind placebo controlled trial to evaluate the efficacy of probiotics in reducing antibiotics for infection in care home residents - The Probiotics to Reduce Infections iN CarE home reSidentS (PRINCESS) Trial Manuscript submitted

68. Moore G, Audrey S, Barker M, Bond L, Bonell C, Hardeman W, et al. Process evaluation of complex interventions UK Medical Research Council (MRC) guidance. BMJ. 2015.

69. Ritchie J, Spencer L. Qualitative data analysis for applied policy research. Analyzing Qualitative Data. London: Routledge; 1994.

70. Ritchie J, Spencer L, O'Conner W. Carrying out qualitative analysis. In: Lewis JRaJ, editor. Qualitative research practice: a guide for social science students and researchers. London: Sage Publications; 2003.

71. Saunders B, Sim J, Kingstone T, Baker S, Waterfield J, Bartlam B, et al. Saturation in qualitative research: exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. Qual Quant. 2018;4(52).

72. Biernacki P, Waldorf D. Snowball Sampling: Problems and Techniques of Chain Referral Sampling. Sociological Methods & Research. 1981.